
Police and Crime Panel

Date Friday 29 June 2018
Time 2.00 pm
Venue Committee Room 1A - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

[Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement]

1. Election of Chairman  

2. Election of Vice-Chairman  

3. Apologies for Absence  

4. Substitute Members  

5. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2018  (Pages 3 - 6)

6. Declarations of interest, if any  

7. Press, Broadcast Media and Social Media - Report of the Office of the 
Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner  (Pages 7 - 8)

8. Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner's Annual Report - Report of 
the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner  (Pages 9 - 
24)

9. Refreshed Police, Crime and Victims' Plan - Report of the Office of the 
Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner  (Pages 25 - 64)

10. Crime Statistics - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' 
Commissioner  (Pages 65 - 76)



11. Quarter 4 2017/18 Performance Report - Report of the Office of the 
Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner  (Pages 77 - 104)

12. Police and Crime Panel Work Programme 2018/19 - Report of Director 
of Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 
105 - 108)

13. Commissioning in 2018-19 - Report of Head of Governance and 
Commissioning, Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner  
(Pages 109 - 126)

14. PCVC Decision Records - Report of the Chief of Staff, Office of the 
Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner  (Pages 127 - 132)

15. State of Policing: The Annual Assessment of Policing in England and 
Wales 2017 - HMICFRS - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and 
Victims' Commissioner  (Pages 133 - 136)

16. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Monitoring Officer

County Hall
Durham
21 June 2018

To: The Members of the Police and Crime Panel

Durham County Council
Councillors D Boyes, P Brookes, P Crathorne, L Hovvels, J Nicholson, 
A Savory and M Simmons

Darlington Borough Council
Councillors S Harker, B Jones and M Knowles

Independent Co-opted Members
Mr N J H Cooke and Mr D K G Dodwell

Contact: Ian Croft Tel: 03000 269702



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Police and Crime Panel held in Committee Room 1A - County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 8 March 2018 at 1.00 pm

Present:

Councillor L Hovvels (Chair)

Durham County Council:
Councillors A Bainbridge, D Boyes, P Brookes, P Crathorne, S Robinson and M Simmons

Darlington Borough Council:
Councillors S Harker, B Jones (Vice-Chair) and M Knowles

Independent Co-opted Members:
Mr N J H Cooke

1 Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Mr D Dodwell.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members in attendance.

3 Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

The Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner provided the Panel with the following 
information arising from the previous meeting:

Provision of information to Parish Councils
The PCVC informed the Panel that he had written to all Parish Clerks to inform 
them of police engagement with local councils.  Councillor Brookes replied that the 
letter did not mention the provision of a pro-forma on crime statistics to Parish 
Councils and asked that the PCVC ensured this would happen.

The Chief of Staff informed the Panel that it was important for local police officers to 
engage with Parish Councils and Parish Councillors to ascertain what they would 
want providing.  In reply to a question from Councillor Brookes, the PCVC 
confirmed that if a Parish Clerk requested a written report on crime statistics, this 
would be provided.  The PCVC added that the information from PACT meetings 
could also be provided to the Clerk if this was requested.

Grant/Taxation funding levels

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



The PCVC reported that in 2018/19 police funding was 72.9% Government grant, 
27.1% taxation compared to 2015/16 when Government grant accounted for 76.6% 
of funding, with local taxation accounting for 23.4%.  This was particularly 
significant in the Durham force area which had the lowest yield of any force and 
therefore a high level of dependency on Government grant.  The PCVC added that 
he had received a letter from the Policing and Fire Minister to confirm that a 
proposal to levy increased funding from Band E to H properties was not 
permissible.

Reserves
The PCVC informed the Panel that a study by the National Audit Officer in 2015 into 
the impact of austerity has found that the level of reserves in the Durham force was 
below the national average.

Funding Contributions by Universities
The PCVC reported that Durham University contributed £30,000 per annum 
towards the cost of a University Liaison Police Officer.  In neighbouring area, 
Teesside University contributed £100,000 over a 3-year period, Northumbria Force 
received £25,000 per annum from Sunderland University, £31,000 from 
Northumberland University and £47,000 from Newcastle University.

4 Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

5 Revenue & Capital Budgets 2017/18 & Revenue & Capital Budgets 2018/19

The Panel considered a report of the PCVC Chief Finance Officer which provided 
details of the proposed revenue budget and policing precept for 2018/19, the 
proposed capital budget for 2018/19, the revised revenue and capital budgets for 
2018/19 and the robustness of the estimates and adequacy of reserves (for copy 
see file of Minutes).

Councillor Crathorne informed the Panel she was pleased that an increased 
number of apprenticeships was proposed for 2018/19 and hoped this would help 
young people gain employment.

Councillor Hovvels thanked the PCVC Chief Finance Officer for his presentation of 
the report and congratulated him on his recent award of an OBE in the New Years’ 
Honours.

In response to a question from Councillor Boyes regarding the top sliced funding 
streams referred to at paragraph 14 of the report, the Chief Finance Officer 
provided the Panel with information on those areas where top slicing would 
increase for 2018/19, including police technology programmes, arm’s length bodies 
(HMIC and IOPC), strengthening the response to Organised Crime and Special 
Grant.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 4



6 Reducing Reoffending

The Panel received a presentation from the PCVC on reducing re-offending which 
was both an objective in the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan and one of the key 
objectives in the Local Criminal Justice Plan for Durham and Cleveland which was 
published by the PCVC and the PCC for Cleveland in January 2018 (for copy of 
slides see file of Minutes).

Councillor Boyes informed the meeting that any crime reduction strategy and 
strategy to reduce re-offending required partners to work together and asked 
whether there was any appetite from partners, for example housing providers and 
employers to participate in such strategies.

The PCVC replied that work with partners was essential adding that some were 
already very good.  The Chief of Staff added that while some of the work with 
employers had proven to be challenging, some employers such as Timpson’s had a 
number of their stores managed by ex-offenders and considered ex-offenders as 
some of their best employees.  Attempts were being made to employ ex-offenders 
in particular roles within the Constabulary where possible and some Checkpoint 
navigators had an offending history.

Councillor Knowles informed the panel that some ex-offenders may have never 
been employed and therefore would need support.  With regard to accommodation, 
some areas may not be suitable for ex-offenders to be located.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

7 Quarter 3 2017/18 Performance Report

The Panel noted a report of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner which 
provided a Quarter 3 performance update for 2017/18 (for copy see file of Minutes).
 
Resolved:
That the performance update be noted.

8 PCVC Decision Records

The Panel noted a report of the Chief of Staff, Office of the Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner, which provided an update on the PCVCs decision register 
since the last meeting, and forward plan (for copy see file of Minutes).

9 HMIC Crime Data Integrity Inspection

The Panel considered a report of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 
which provided information about Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and 
Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) report into Durham’s Crime Data Integrity 
which was published on 15 February 2018 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 5



The PCVC informed the Panel that this was a good inspection report from 
HMICFRS which highlighted some areas for improvement.  However he was 
pleased to report that the force had been rated as outstanding in the category of 
demonstrating leadership and culture necessary to meet the national standards for 
crime recording.

Councillor Boyes referred to the timeliness of crime recording which showed that 
50% of violent crime and sexual offences were not recorded within 24 hours.  The 
PCVC replied that the force had up to 72 hours to record offences, adding that work 
was taking place within the force regarding sexual offences to ensure these were 
being correctly processed.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 6



Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

Press, Broadcast Media and Social Media

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. At the Panel’s Development Session in April, there was discussion about coverage in the press of 
the work of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, and Durham Constabulary. A 
commitment was made to update the Panel about key press activity at each Panel meeting.

Background

2. A presentation will be given to the Panel at the meeting, covering:

- Why media coverage is important
- Recent coverage in the press and broadcast media
- Recent social media content and reach

Recommendations

3. Panel Members are recommended to consider the information contained in the presentation, 
and comment accordingly.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
None
Staffing
None
Equality and Diversity
None
Accommodation
None
Crime and Disorder
None
Children's Act 2004
None
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
None
Environment
None
Collaboration and Partnerships
None
Value for Money and Productivity
None
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Positive coverage of activity will help to boost confidence in policing.
Commissioning
None
Other risks
None

Contact Officer: Jon Carling
Job Title: Head of Policy and Communications
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 8

mailto:jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


Police and Crime Panel

29 June 2018

Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner’s Annual Report

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. For Panel Members to consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 2017-18.  

Background

2. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Part 1, Chapter 3, Section 12) requires 
Police and Crime Commissioners (PCC) to produce an Annual Report on: 
 The exercise of the PCC’s functions in each financial year; and 
 The progress which has been made in the financial year towards meeting the police and crime 

objectives in the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan. 

3. The Act requires the Police and Crime Commissioner to attend a public meeting of the Police and 
Crime Panel to present the report to the panel and answer any questions on the report.  

4. The Police and Crime Commissioner is required to give the Panel a response to any report or 
recommendations on the annual report and publish any such response.  

5. Appendix two of this report contains the Annual Report for 2016-17 for consideration by the 
Police and Crime Panel.  The report is structured into:

- Key achievements
- Highlights of 2017/18
- Resources
- Commissioning services
- Looking forward

Recommendations

6. That Panel Members consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 2016-17 and 
comment accordingly.  

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
None
Staffing
None
Equality and Diversity
None
Accommodation
None
Crime and Disorder
The annual report sets out progress on the objectives within the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan. 
Children's Act 2004
None
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
The annual report includes information about the PCVC’s community engagement activity.
Environment
None
Collaboration and Partnerships
The annual report includes information about how the PCVC works in partnership with a range of other 
agencies.
Value for Money and Productivity
None
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Subject of report.
Commissioning
The annual report includes information about commissioning.
Other risks
None

Contact Officer: Jon Carling
Job Title: Head of Policy and Communications
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 10

mailto:jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


New photo of Ron?

Annual Report 
2017/18

#RonsAnnualReport

June 
2018port 
2017/18

Page 11



Contents Introduction
Last year was a 
good year in many 
ways, for Durham 
Constabulary, for 
local people, and 
for many of the 
people I work with 
on a daily basis. 

The Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner 
for County Durham & 
Darlington, Ron Hogg...

HM Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, Fire and 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
has identified Durham 
Constabulary as the best 
police force in the country 
for effectiveness, for the 
third year running. Durham 
was the only force to be 
rated as ‘outstanding’ 
in the effectiveness 
inspection, and one of only 
two to achieve the same 
rating for efficiency. We 
can all be very proud of our 
officers and staff. 
We shouldn’t 
underestimate the 
challenges that face us 
however.
We are continuing to see 
the consequences of 
funding cuts. Recorded 

crime has risen over the 
past year, and we all need 
to be vigilant in combatting 
it. We have lost 400 
officers since 2010 and we 
cannot lose any more. I am 
continuing to campaign to 
Government Ministers for 
fair funding for policing.
At the same time, 
confidence in Durham 
Constabulary has risen, to 
the point where Durham 
has the third highest level 
of public confidence1 of all 
police forces in the country.
Almost everything I do in 
this role is carried out in 
partnership with others. 
From improving services 
for victims of domestic 
abuse, to increasing the 
coherence of the local 
criminal justice system, 
I have found the 
partners I work with 
to be positive and to 
support the aims in 
my Police, Crime and 

Victims’ Plan. This report 
sets out how we are all 
working together. 
My most important co-
workers are local people. 
It’s only by talking to 
communities that I am able 
to understand what our 
priorities should be. I’ve 
met and listened to a lot of 
people over the past year. I 
intend to continue to do so 
in the future.
You can find out more 
about the work that I do by 
following me on Facebook 
and Twitter. Just search for 
@DurhamPCC on Twitter 
and @PCC.Durham on 
Facebook.
  

Page 2

Introduction 3

Key Achievements 4 

Highlights of 2017/18 6

Resources 14 

Commissioning Services 17

Looking forward 19 

Key Contacts and Useful 
Information

21

Appendices
Community Safety Fund Projects

Key Decisions
Engagement Map

 

22
22
23
24

 1 Crime Survey of England and Wales

P
age 12



Key Achievements
of 2017/18
Durham Constabulary was awarded an 
‘Outstanding’ rating for its Effectiveness in reducing 
crime and keeping communities safe – the only 
Force to receive that rating, and for the third year 
running.

Durham Constabulary was rated as ‘Outstanding’ 
for Efficiency, in November 2017, again for the third 
year running - one of only two Forces to receive that 
rating.

Wide and increasing range of services for victims 
of crime, with new services launched for victims of 
hate crime and people with mental health ill-health, 
in April 2017.

Launch of multi-agency Local Criminal Justice Plan 
January 2018.

Partnership established with NHS England to 
improve local services for victims of sexual violence.

Libby Wright elected as Young Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner in September 2017.

Mini-Police operating in 105 schools.

10,000 local people attended Superheroes event in 
October 2017.

Second Rural Statement published.

171 people received service 
from Community Peer Mentor 
programme.

£150,000 awarded to local 
groups for projects to 
promote community safety.

Checkpoint diversion scheme 
shown to reduce reoffending by 
around 10%.

Ron and Cleveland PCC Barry Coppinger signing the LCJP Plan

Young PCVC Libby 

Wright at the Celebration 

of Local Superheroes

Continuing 
campaigns for:

- Fair funding for policing

- Reform of national drug policy

- Minimum unit pricing for alcohol

- Lower drink-drive limit

- Mandatory registration 
scheme for private 

landlords

Highlights of 2017/18
We have an 
outstanding Police 
force, tackling the 
rise in crime...
There is no getting away 
from the fact that the level 
of recorded crime has 
been rising, and that this 
places extra demand on 
the police force. I published 
a Performance Report in 
December, and you will find 
it on the home page of my 
website, at www.durham-
pcc.gov.uk . It shows a rise 
of 35% in ‘all recorded 
crime’ in the twelve 
months to September 
2017, an increase of over 
10,000 compared to the 
previous year. 
There are three key reasons 
for this:
1. In 2016 the Home 

Office, advised by 
HM Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS), made 
significant changes to 
the rules by which crime 
is recorded. One change 
is that the Police now 
have to take a victim’s 
word that they have 
been a victim of crime 
unless there is evidence 
to say this isn’t the 

case. A second is in the 
timing of when a crime 
must be recorded: 
this decision must be 
made within the first 
24 hours of receiving 
the call; previously this 
was 72 hours. I support 
both of these changes 
because I believe that 
they are increasing the 
confidence of the public, 
and especially victims, in 
policing.

2. People are increasingly 
confident to report 
crimes and incidents 
to the Police. We have 
seen rises in recorded 
cases of hate crime, 
domestic abuse and 
sexual violence. Our 
intelligence has led me 
and the Chief Constable 
firmly to the view that 
this is primarily because 
people are more 

prepared than they used 
to be to report such 
events. 

3. There have been real 
increases in some 
types of crime. My 
latest performance 
report indicates that, 
to September 2017, 
arson increased by 
66% compared to 
the previous year, 
vehicle crime by 18%, 
shoplifting by 13% and 
burglary by 7%. 

I might have expected a 
rise in recorded crime to 
lead to a lower level of 
confidence in policing. 
Fortunately, that doesn’t 
seem to be the case. The 
Government commissions 
an independent Crime 
Survey of England and 
Wales, and this indicates 
that confidence in Durham 
Constabulary is currently 

Community 
Peer 

Mentors

Page 4 Page 5

PCVC Ron Hogg with Chief Constable Mike Barton

P
age 13



Highlights of 2017/18
the sixth-highest of all 43 
police forces – a much 
higher position than three 
or four years ago. 
That can only happen if 
Durham Constabulary is 
doing a good job – and 
is seen to do so. I’m 
delighted that the Force 
continues to be very highly 
regarded by HMICFRS. 
In March, the Force was 
awarded an ‘Outstanding’ 
rating for its Effectiveness 
in reducing crime and 
keeping communities safe 
– the only Force to receive 
that rating, and for the 
third year running. The 
Constabulary was rated as 
‘Outstanding’ for Efficiency, 
in November 2017, again 
for the third year running, 
and one of only two Forces 
to receive that rating. 
There are some very good 
reasons behind these 
outstanding inspection 
results. Here are three:
1. The force uses very 

sophisticated analytical 
processes and systems 
to understand the 
demands placed on 
it. It analyses where 
crimes and anti-social 
behaviour are taking 
place, what types of 

crime they are, and 
what this means for 
the future – and it 
deploys its resources to 
meet these needs, as 
accurately as possible.

2. Durham Constabulary 
has a culture in which  
officers and staff are 
really encouraged to 
take responsibility, 
come up with new 
ideas, and to see them 
through to delivery. 
The Chief Constable has 
real confidence in the 
ability and judgement 
of his people, and this 
shines through in their 
day-to-day activities. 
This is what we mean 
when we talk of 
#durhamdifference. 

3. This means that the 
force is at the forefront 
of innovation in policing. 
Durham Constabulary 
uses the most modern 
software to enable 
Officers to be out there 
in the community, rather 
than sitting behind 
desks. And initiatives 
such as CheckPoint (see 
below) are cutting the 
demand on policing by 
making in-roads into the 
level of re-offending.

Putting victims first 
remains my key 
priority...
Since my re-election in 
2016, I have focused a lot 
of attention on the needs 
of victims of crime and 
anti-social behaviour. I 
feel passionate about this. 
Victims of crime need 
support to help them 
cope and recover from 
the experience inflicted 
on them, through no fault 
of their own. In 2016 I 
launched and funded the 
Victim Care and Advice 
Service (VCAS), which 
routinely contacts victims 
and discusses their needs, 
and then refers them to a 
support service that can 
help. During 2017/18 VCAS 
supported 1,222 victims of 
various crimes and offered 
advice to a further 549 
victims of fraud.  VCAS also 
responded to 23 referrals 
involving families from 
our local communities 
who were affected by the 
Manchester terrorist attack 
in 2017.’  
The range of support 
services is increasing too. 
Following a pilot last year, 
I have just contracted with 
Darlington Association on 

Disability (DAD) to provide 
a Hate Crime Advocacy 
Service, in partnership 
with Show Racism the 
Red Card and Querkey – 
a specialist in the needs 
of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual 
and Transgender (LGBT+) 
people. The service 
employs trained advocates 
to help give victims from 
diverse communities a 
voice in the criminal justice 
system, making it much 
more likely that they will 
continue to press their case 
and ensure perpetrators 
are brought to justice. DAD 
also provide this kind of 
service for victims with 
mental ill-health issues. 
I am also funding the 
Just for Women Centre in 
Stanley to provide peer 
support, counselling and 
advocacy for victims of 
domestic abuse. I am 

conscious that victims 
of domestic abuse can 
find the whole civil court 
process to be complex 
and cumbersome, and 
this can lead many to 
withdraw from the process, 
meaning that offenders 
are not brought to justice 
as often as they should 
be. That’s one reason why 
I have been funding an 
Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor in the 
Remand Court. I have 
also developed a series of 
projects under a ‘Whole 
Systems Approach to 
Domestic Abuse’, working 
with my fellow-PCCs in 
Yorkshire and the North 
East. This year I introduced 
the Domestic Abuse 
Scrutiny Panel, where 
members of the public 
are able to scrutinise 
and decisions made by 

“Overall, Durham 
Constabulary 
remains 
outstanding in its 
effectiveness at 
reducing
crime and keeping 
people safe.”

HMICFRS inspection 
of Durham Police 
Effectiveness, 2017

Page 6 Page 7

Mental Health Nurses have been introduced into the force control 

P
age 14



Highlights of 2017/18
the Police in domestic 
abuse cases. The Panel 
complements the Rape 
Scrutiny Panel which has 
been running for two years 
now, and which published 
its second annual report in 
autumn 2017. 
September saw the 
introduction of mental 
health nurses into the 
Force Control Room. In the 
first 6 month pilot phase, 
they have supported 2983 
calls with a mental health 
qualifier - around 17 jobs 
a day. Using funding from 
the local NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, 
the programme is now 
confirmed for the next 
few years. They provide 
valuable professional 
support to Officers dealing 
with incidents where 
mental health is an issue.

I am working hard 
to bring partners in 
the criminal justice 
system together...
In January 2018 Barry 
Coppinger, Police and 
Crime Commissioner for 
Cleveland, and I launched 
the Criminal Justice 
Partnership Plan, 2018-
2021. The Cleveland and 

Durham Local Criminal 
Justice Partnership brings 
together those agencies 
which have responsibility 
for delivering criminal 
justice services, and 
services for victims and 
people who have offended.  
The partners express a 
clear vision in the new 
plan: ‘County Durham, 
Darlington and Cleveland 
are areas where people 
have confidence in a local 
criminal justice system 
which supports victims, 
rehabilitates offenders and 
reduces reoffending, and 
delivers value for money’. 
Our challenge now is to 
deliver over the next three 
years.
Too often victims are 
let down by the system 
because they are passed 
from one agency to 

another and not properly 
supported. This has an 
impact both on their 
ability to cope and recover 
from crimes, and on the 
likelihood of justice being 
done. The plan will address 
this by creating seamless 
services for victims.
People who commit 
offences often have 
many problems in their 
lives, in particular with 
accommodation, substance 
misuse, relationships, 
self-esteem, finances and 
employment. Instead of 
endlessly putting them 
through the cycle of the 
criminal justice system, 
partners are going to 
work together to address 
the underlying issues of 
offending, which will help 
to prevent crime and result 
in fewer victims.

I continue to be 
inspired when 
I work with our 
Young People...
I have been inspired by 
working with young people 
over the past year. The 
Police Cadets continue 
to go from strength to 
strength, and I was pleased 
to attend the launch of 
the Cadet programme at 
Wolsingham School last 
year. I have also supported 
expansion of the Mini-
Police, who now operate 
in 105 schools. There are 
1,970 of them now! These 
programmes provide a real 
sense of purpose for young 
people, and are leading 
them towards rewarding, 
fulfilling lives and away 
from the temptations 
of crime and anti-social 
behaviour. I’m sure that 
it’s only a matter of time 
before a member of the 
Mini Police becomes a 
career Police Officer.
In September 2017, the 
second Young PCVC, Libby 
Wright, was elected by 
the Police Cadets. After 
Nathan Gaskill, who was 
elected in 2016, Libby had 
a very hard act to follow. 
Nathan gained a lot of 

attention because his clear, 
confident attitude made 
him a hit with the media. 
Libby has also appeared on 
TV and Radio, and she has 
embraced some very good 
causes during her term 
of office. One feature of 
Libby’s election manifesto 
was a commitment to raise 
the profile of male victims 
of domestic abuse. She is 
so right to raise this:  one 
in four victims of domestic 
abuse is male, and yet their 
plight is rarely highlighted. 
I am keen to work with 
Libby, and our partners in 

the public and voluntary 
sector, to encourage male 
victims to seek support 
when they need it. 
Libby has a budget of 
£20,000 (£10,000 from me 
and a further £10,000 from 
the High Sheriff, Caroline 
Peacock for 2017-18) to 
invest in activities aimed at 
young people and designed 
to improved community 
safety.
I am also continuing 
to invest in the Youth 
Offending Services in 
County Durham and 
Darlington.

Page 8 Page 9

The Mini Police visit London

Young PCVC Libby Wright and the Police and Crime Panel

P
age 15



Highlights of 2017/18
Community 
engagement...
Over the past 12 months 
I have visited and spoken 
to communities from all 
parts of County Durham 
and Darlington. Every week 
I visit a different area. I also 
attend most of the summer 
fairs and agricultural 
shows, such as those in 
Wolsingham and Peterlee. 
I was also delighted that 
10,000 people attended my 
Celebration of Superheroes 
event in Shildon in October 
2017. This is the third 
year that I have hosted 
the event. It’s great to see 
so many people enjoying 
themselves, taking part 
in competitions and 
learning about the work 
of the Police, Fire and 
Rescue Service, North 
East Ambulance Service, 
and other organisations 
delivering services to 
improve community safety. 
The event also gives me the 
opportunity to talk to local 
people and hear about the 
issues affecting them. It’s 
by having conversations 
like these, that I pick up 
vital information that I can 
then use to set objectives 
for the Force.

My commitment to 
rural policing is as 
strong as ever...
I have been keen to take 
an interest in the needs 
of rural communities 
since I was first elected 
six years ago. In 2016 and 
2017 the Chief Constable 
and I published our Rural 
Policing Statement, setting 
out commitments and 
priorities for the most rural 
parts of the Force area. 
We have sought to address 
concerns such as theft of 
livestock and equipment 
from farms, worrying 
animals, fly-tipping, 
speeding and unsafe 
driving, poaching, trading 
in endangered species 
and damage of protected 
sites and habitats. Despite 
significant reductions 
to my budget recently, 
the number of officers 
working in our rural areas 
has remained stable over 
the past year, and there 
are more officers based 
at Barnard Castle than a 
year ago. There is also the 
Special Constabulary, doing 
a fantastic job working with 
our rural communities. The 
police have also enhanced 
how they are tackling 
local issues, including the 

introduction of Community 
Safety Responders, 
cross-border working, 
Community Speedwatch 
initiatives, an additional 
police vehicle, additional 
staff training, use of 
mobile tablet technology 
and greater partnership 
working. 
In February 2018 I was 
pleased to be amongst 
those welcoming Prince 
Charles to County Durham, 
and was delighted that 
he gave time to conduct 
the formal opening of the 
Emergency Services Hub 
at Barnard Castle. The 
new Hub is a significant 
facility - the only one of 
its kind in the country. As 

well as our neighbourhood 
policing team, it houses 
the fire and rescue service, 
the North East Ambulance 
Service, and Teesdale 
and Weardale Search and 
Mountain Rescue Team. 
It’s a much more modern, 
efficient building than its 
predecessors in which all 
officers work together and 
get to know each other. 
That’s important: when 
they are dealing with an 
emergency, it’s great to 
have real understanding 
with colleagues. The 
benefits to local people 
are clear: the new 
Hub represents a firm, 
visible commitment to 
neighbourhood policing for 
many years ahead.

Page 10 Page 11

Tug of War competition at my Superheroes event

Wellbeing for Life were also at my event 

A young Wolsingham School Cadet teaches another child CPR
HRH Prince Charles visiting Barnard Castle

P
age 16



Highlights of 2017/18
My work with 
the local people 
in Horden is 
influencing a 
national debate...
Over the past couple of 
years I have really got to 
know the community in 
the numbered streets in 
Horden, and developed an 
understanding of the issues 
they face. Following the 
auctioning-off of hundreds 
of properties by a social 
landlord, houses in those 
streets are now owned 
by a myriad of private 
landlords. Whilst some of 
them are diligent in looking 
after their properties 
and the interests of their 
tenants, far too many are 
absentee, seeming only 
to be interested in making 
money out of the buildings 
they have purchased. One 

consequence of this has 
been an increase in crime, 
anti-social behaviour 
and damage to the local 
environment. The Police 
have been helpful in 
response, initiating a multi-
agency plan in 2017 which 
led to a large increase in 
Community Protection 
Notices and Community 
Protection Orders. More 
recently, Police Officers 
worked with an enhanced 
team of Wardens, 
Environment Protection 
Officers from Durham 
County Council and others 
to carry out a series of 
important environmental 
improvements: caps 
to open drains, faster 
boarding-up of empty 
properties, and other 
improvements to the local 
environment. I was pleased 
to contribute some funding 

for this. Nonetheless, 
Horden continues to 
have its problems and 
I will continue to press 
the Police, Council and 
others to deliver important 
services there.
One other thing came out 
of this work: I have been 
working with Phil Wilson 
MP, who managed to bring 
draft legislation before the 
House of Commons which 
would put in a place a 
mandatory requirement for 
private landlords to belong 
to a national register. This 
would be hugely beneficial: 
it would mean that the 
police and other service 
providers would be able 
to identify the owners of 
privately rented properties, 
and ensure that they 
were carrying out their 
responsibilities effectively. 

A number of other 
campaigns are 
important to me 
too...
As well as working with 
Phil Wilson to campaign 
for a mandatory register 
of private landlords, I 
supported other important 
campaigns last year.
I feel passionately that the 
Government should re-
consider its failed policies 
relating to the use of illicit 
drugs. I continue to call for 
drugs to be decriminalised, 
so that users will not fear 
the risk of being treated as 
criminals when considering 
whether to take medical 
advice to help them with 
addiction.  As a former 
Police Officer I have seen 
the despair, the deaths 
and the damage that drugs 
do to families and society. 
Even the Government’s 
evaluation of its own 
strategy suggests that the 
policy doesn’t work, and 
yet radical reform is not 
being adopted. 
The evidence for change 
is clear. In Portugal, where 
drug possession was 
decriminalised a few years 
ago, the number of deaths 
fell by 80%. Politicians from 

all sides are now calling 
for change: the longer this 
Government fails to take 
responsibility, the longer 
we can expect deaths from 
drug misuse to continue. 
In July 2017 I held an 
international symposium 
in Durham addressed by 
speakers from around the 
world. The event made a 
compelling case for reform.
I have also supported 
campaigns to reduce the 
drink-drive limit, so that 
fewer people will die on 
the roads, and I have 
also shown support for 
minimum unit pricing for 
alcohol. 
One more issue which 
I feel strongly about is 
fair funding for policing. 
Last year the Chief 
Constable and I went 
to London to meet the 

then Policing Minister, 
Brandon Lewis, to make 
the case that relatively 
rural, post-industrial areas 
such as County Durham 
and Darlington should 
receive sufficient funding 
for policing. We have 
lost 400 hundred police 
officers since 2010 as a 
consequence of funding 
cuts, at a time when 
crime has been rising. The 
Home Secretary’s recent 
statement that more police 
officers are not the answer 
to an increase in serious 
violence flies in the face 
of logic. I will continue to 
press the case, strongly, 
as there will probably be 
a review of the funding 
formula for policing before 
the end of this Parliament.

Page 12 Page 13

Madame Dreifuss speaking at the drug conference last July

Children in Horden taking part in the Big Spring Clean

P
age 17



Resources 
Resources will be tight, and we will always need to be efficient...
Finance and 
Efficiency
I need to ensure that 
taxpayers’ money is used as 
effectively and efficiently as 
possible. I am required to: 
• Maintain an efficient 

and effective policing 
service for the area; 

• Set the police precept 
(police element of 
Council Tax); and

• Commission services 
to support victims and 
improve community 
safety.

• Set the annual budget 
for the Constabulary.    

Durham Constabulary has 
been, for the last three 
years, the most efficient 
police force in the country. 
Effective and efficient use 
of resources coupled with a 
good understanding of the 
demand on services allows 
the Force to coordinate and 
align resources so that we 
can invest in preventative 
services to address issues 
before they worsen and 
cause us greater harm.  
I am a firm believer in 
innovation. Durham has 
introduced innovative 
initiatives such as: 

• Checkpoint, a diversion 
scheme for low level 
offending.

• The region’s first 
Community Safety 
Responders who 
work for Durham 
Constabulary as PCSOs, 
for County Durham 
and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service as 
retained firefighters 
and as first responders 
for the North East 
Ambulance Service 
(NEAS).

• The use of body worn 
video technology 
which encourages early 
guilty pleas, which in 
turn saves resources 
and achieves better 
outcomes for victims.  

• Emergency Services Hub 
at Barnard Castle, which 
is home to the Police, 
Fire and Rescue Service, 
North East Ambulance 
Service, and the 
Teesdale and Weardale 
Search and Mountain 
Rescue Team.

• Harm Assessment Risk 
Tool (HART), an artificial 
intelligence aide which 
helps officers decide 
whether a suspect 

should be kept in 
custody.

The two main sources 
of funding for Durham 
Constabulary are 
Government grant and 
the police precept (police 
element of Council Tax).  
Whilst continuing to reduce 
the amount of grant I 
receive every financial year 
the Government also only 
allow me to increase the 
precept by a certain level.  
This means if our area’s 
precept did not increase 
in any particular year, the 
baseline (and therefore 
the budget) would be 
lower for every subsequent 
year. This would make 
the Constabulary less 
resilient to future budget 
reductions. Indeed, as 
Government funding has 
reduced, our dependence 
on the precept has 
increased.
In collaboration with 
the Constabulary I have 
updated the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP), 
which projects our financial 
position over the next four 
years.  The projections 
in the plan will require 
some difficult decisions.  

It is anticipated that the 
Government’s public 
sector funding reduction 
programme will continue 
beyond 2020. This will 
require the ongoing need 
to find efficiencies across 
both the force and my 
office.  
Of the total budget of £116 
million for 2018/19, I have 
allocated the Constabulary 
a budget of £113.7m.  I 
have split the remaining 
£2.3m into:
• £1.129 million for 

commissioning activity. 
This includes my 
Community Safety 
Fund, and Community 
Safety Grants for victim 
and specialist support 
services;  

• £1.071 million to my 
office, as I have a small 
team to assist me in 
effectively fulfilling my 
role.  I am determined 
to keep this as lean 
and as efficient as 
possible, at the same 
time as ensuring I have 
sufficient support to 
work with partners to 
deliver the reforms and 
improvements that are 
necessary. 

Every year I receive 

separately but in addition 
to the local precept and 
police grant funding over 
£700,000 from the Ministry 
of Justice to commission 
services for victims. 

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

Estimate

Income £m £m £m £m £m

Grant 84.7 84.7 84.7 84.7 84.7

Council Tax2 28.6 31.5 33.7 35.0 36.5

Total 113.3 116.2 118.4 119.7 121.2

Expenditure 113.3 116.2 118.4 119.7 121.2

Difference 0 0 0 0 0

Total Budget

Durham 
Constabulary

Commissioning 
Activity

My office

Page 14 Page 15
 2 Assumes a £12 Band D increase in 2019-20 and 2% per annum thereafter

P
age 18



Resources 
People 
The Chief Constable and I 
recognise that our people 
are our organisations’ 
greatest assets. Their 
knowledge, passion and 
attitude are the driving 
force which makes Durham 
unique and different – the 
Durham Difference.
This means ensuring 
that officers and staff are 
recruited, trained and 
developed as effectively 
as possible.  It is also 
expected that officers and 
staff numbers will be stable 
over the next four years.  In 
addition, the Constabulary 
will also continue to recruit 
Special Constables and 
volunteers in addition to 
the regular recruitment of 
PCSOs, Police Officers and 
police staff.  
I am a strong advocate of 
diversity across County 
Durham and Darlington.  I 
aim to achieve a culture 
that values difference, and I 
expect the Chief Constable 
to attract and retain a 
workforce which reflects 
the local community.  
Consultation with the 
public and key stakeholders 
will be carried out in 
respect of diversity where 
necessary.

Commissioning Services 
Every year I receive over 
£700,000 in funding from 
the Ministry of Justice 
to commission services 
for victims. I also have 
discretion to use some of 
the funding which I receive 
from the Home Office to 
commission additional 
services. 
As far as possible, I am 
keen to collaborate with 
my other partners when 
commissioning. This means 
that we have a shared 
understanding of the issues 
that we are seeking to 
address, and that we make 
the best use of the public 
money that is available to 
us. 
Later this year I will 
publish my Commissioning 
Strategy, which will set 
out my approach to 
commissioning in more 
detail, under the three 
broad categories from my 
Plan on a Page: 
• community safety and 

prevention 
• reducing reoffending 
• victims’ services

Community Safety 
Fund
Last year, as in previous 
years, I put in place a 

Community Safety Fund 
(CSF). I contributed 
£100,000 to the fund, and 
was pleased that County 
Durham Community 
Foundation (CDCF) were 
able to contribute a further 
£50,000 operate the fund 
on my behalf. The CSF 
makes available small 
grants, typically between 
£5,000 and £10,000, to 
community-led projects 
designed to improve safety 
and reduce crime in local 
areas.

Case study: Horden Young Citizens Project 
The project engages young people aged 7-13 years 
around the themes of social integration, community 
involvement and cohesion, and the environment. 
It provides personal development and citizenship 
training for young people, aiming to increase their self-
confidence and to help them work towards a positive, 
successful future.

Page 16 Page 17

P
age 19



May 2018 marked the 
mid-point of my current 
term of office. I have been 
considering the aims and 
objectives which I included 
in my 2016 Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Plan, and I 
will publish a refreshed 
version this year. I don’t 
expect to make huge 
changes, but I will bring it 
up-to-date in the context 
of a changing environment 
for crime, policing and 
community safety.

Accountability
Alongside the refreshed 
Plan will be a series of 
mechanisms which I 
will use to demonstrate 
accountability. I want local 
people to be able to hold 
me to account, and I will 
update the content, and 
format, of the performance 
report which I publish 
every three months so 
that performance against 
my Plan is transparent and 
widely available. 
I will use the opportunity 
provided by the new plan 
to develop some new Key 
Performance Questions. 
I will use these to ask the 
Constabulary, and the 
other partners who deliver 
services for all us, how 

Looking forward
well they are meeting the 
outcomes I am seeking, 
and I will publish the 
answers to those questions 
in my performance report. 
I will also be publishing 
a Policing Plan, setting 
out what I expect the 
Constabulary to achieve.

Engagement 
I have always wanted to 
be visible and available to 
local people, so that they 
can come and talk to me 
when they need to. This 
will continue to be an 
important priority for me, 
and I will continue to visit 
local communities, summer 
shows and other meetings 
and events where I can 
speak to local people. And 
people can follow me on 
Facebook: @PCC.Durham 
and Twitter: @Durhampcc. 

Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership
Now that we have a Local 
Criminal Justice Plan in 
place, we need to deliver 
on the aims of the Plan. 
Barry Coppinger and I 
are co-chairs of the Local 
Criminal Justice Board, and 
we will be working with 
our partners to ensure that 
the Plan is delivered. Key 

Commissioning Services 
support for victims of 
honour-based violence, 
female genital mutilation, 
and forced marriage. I am 
also helping to fund the 
Just for Women Centre 
in Stanley, and I support 
the Sexual Abuse Referral 
Centre and rape and Sexual 
Abuse Counselling Centre. 
I am also funding the 
Restorative Hub, which 
enables victims who wish 
to meet their offenders 
to do so in a supportive 
environment and helps 
them to bring closure 
to the ordeal they have 
been through. The Hub 
also hosts a community 
mediation service which 
helps to resolve community 
disputes before they 
escalate to a position 
where an enforcement 
action is needed. In 
parallel, I am funding the 
Community Peer Mentor 
scheme, which provides 
support to people who 
have found it difficult to 
resolve persistent incidents 
of anti-social behaviour 
to the Police. The scheme 
helps individuals to 
address the root-causes 
of their experience, and 
has enabled many people 
to have significantly 

improved quality of life. 
In 2017-18 171 people 
received a service from 
the programme, and there 
are currently 96 people 
offering the service on a 
voluntary basis, across 
County Durham and 
Darlington. 
I have also established 
a budget for reducing 
reoffending, which will be 
allocated in consultation 
with the Reducing 
Reoffending Board, in line 
with the priorities in its 
plan on a page.

I have funded a number 
of initiatives designed 
to improve community 
cohesion and make hate 
crimeless likely. I am 
funding Show Racism the 
Red Card to run awareness-
raising sessions for 
children, so that they can 
identify racism and help 
to address it. I also help to 
fund the annual Durham 
Pride event. 

Victims’ Services
In 2016, with my Cleveland 
counterpart Barry 
Coppinger, I launched the 
Victim Care and Advice 
Service (VCAS). Delivered 
by Safe in Tees Valley, VCAS 
provides an assessment 
and referral service for all 
victims, helping to ensure 
that they receive the 
support they need from 
a range of providers of 
specialist services. During 
2017/18 the Victim Care 
and Advice Service (VCAS) 
supported 1,222 victims of 
various crimes and offered 
advice to a further 549 
victims of fraud.  Since 
then I have also funded 
the Hate Crime Advocacy 
Service and Mental Health 
Advocacy Service, and I 
have also contracted with 
HALO for the delivery of 

amongst deliverables are 
the services for victims 
as they work their way 
through the criminal 
justice system, and we 
want this journey to be 
as smooth and easy for 
them as possible. At the 
same time, we want to 
improve services, reduce 
reoffending, and to help to 
rehabilitate offenders.

Offenders
I will be working with local 
authorites, probabtion 
services, and prison, so 
that people who have 
offended have access 
to services which will 
help them to change 
their behaviour and stop 
offending.

Hate Crime
I will also launch a new 
Hate Crime Action Plan 
this year, working closely 
in partnership with 
partners across the public 
and voluntary sector. The 
Action Plan will set out key 
areas of work to improve 
community cohesion and 
to tackle the impact of hate 
crime.

Page 18 Page 19

P
age 20



Complaints
I will also put in place a 
new series of measures to 
make it easier for people 
with a complaint about 
the Police, or the Chief 
Constable, to know who 
to approach to resolve the 
matter. 

Campaigning
And finally, I will continue 
to campaign for the 
issues I believe will make 
Durham and Darlington a 
safer place. An important 
element of this will be 
fairer funding for policing. 

Looking forward Useful information

Page 21Page 20

Follow us and talk to us on social media. Just search for 
DurhamPCC on the following sites:

Postal address:
Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner
Durham Constabulary HQ
Aykley Heads
Durham
DH1 5TT
Tel: 0191 3752001
Email: general.enquiries@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk

www.durham-pcc.gov.ukPCVC Ron Hogg and Chief Constable Mike Barton, at the Home Office, 
campaigning for fairer funding

P
age 21



Appendices 
List of Key Decisions: 

Details of Decision Date
Funding for Show Racism the Red Card to provide anti-racism education 
in schools

03.04.2017

Funding to Durham Community Action to help increase volunteer 
capability and capacity to the communities of County Durham

09.05.2017

County Durham Youth Offending Service Nurse  11.05.2017
Contribution of £81,626 to Local Safeguarding Boards 14.06.2017 
Funding to HALO  for a service to support victims of honour based 
violence, forced marriage and female genital mutilation

14.06.2017

To grant fund an advocacy service for victims of Hate Crime  30.06.2017
Additional Independent Sexual Violence Advisor support  30.04.2017
To continue to contribute towards the National Rural Crime Network 
(NRCN)

20.07.2017 

Confirmation of the decision (June 2015) to use £7m of Durham PCC 
reserves to repay part of the deficit within the police staff pension fund

10.08.2017 

Application of OPCVC Community Safety Fund (2017/18)  30.04.2017
Collaboration Agreement for staff to support the delivery of criminal 
justice system objectives in Cleveland and Durham

08.08.2017

To contribute towards the Mini Police Project facilitated by Durham 
Agency against Crime (DAAC)

10.08.2017

To contribute £4,425 towards practical support for victims of crime 16.08.2017 
To contribute £15,000 towards the Darlington Partnership  17.08.2017
Licence to occupy Chester le Street Magistrates Court by Durham 
Agency Against Crime (DAAC)

21.09.2017

Agree terms for surrender of the ground lease of Trimdon Radio Mast 15.11.2017

Recommendation to the PCCs for Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria 
to purchase a building to act as new premises for the North East 
Regional Special Operations Unit (NERSOU) and the National Crime 
Agency, with the potential to co-locate other related officers in the 
future

17.11.2017

VCAS Contract Extension April 2018 – March 2020  18.11.2017

Contribution to the High Sheriff Award 2018/19   18.11.2017

Police Precept and Budget Proposal 2018/19 19.02.2018

Collaboration Agreement in relation to the Firearms Classification and 
Examination Laboratory (FCEL)

21.02.2018

Full details of the key decisions I made during 2017/18 are available on my website. 
Here is a summary in the table below:

List of projects I funded from the Community Safety Fund 
2017/18:
Projects Grant awarded 
700 Club £7,500

Cornforth Partnership £7,500

Dawdon Youth & Community Centre £7,500

Deaf Hill Ward Regeneration Partnership £2,500

Digital Voice for Communities £7,500

DJ Evans Youth Club (AKA Bowburn Youth Project) £6,449

Durham City Centre Youth Project £7,452

Durham Community Boxing Club £2,045

Eastlea Community Centre £1,960

Evenwood Cricket Club £5,500

Fencehouses Community Association £5,000

Get Hooked on Fishing (GHoF) £7,294

Groundwork North East & Cumbria £7,500

Horden Youth & Community Centre £7,380

If U Care Share £7,492

Investing in Children £3,000

Just for Women Centre £7,000

MFC Foundation £7,060

Open Gate £6,787

PACT House Stanley £7,500

Pelton Community Association £7,500

Pelton Fell Community Partnership £7,081

SHAID (Single Homeless: Action Initiative Derwentside) £7,500

Wheatley Hill Community Association £6,000

Page 23Page 22

P
age 22



Appendices 
Engagement Map: 
Throughout the past year I have attended many events across the whole county. Below are 
some of the key examples of the events I have attended in 2017/18:

Chester-Le-Street 
Activity Week

Durham Pride 

Miner’s Gala

Peterlee Show

Wolsingham Show

Hurworth Country 
Fair

Celebrating Local
Superheroes Darlington 

Community Day

3 Towns 
Community Day

4 Together 
Community Day

Empire and Flag Weekend – 
Beamish

Heighington Village Fair

Spennymoor Gala 

Lanchester Show

North Park Darlington 

BikeWise 

Open Day Darlington Fire 
Station 

Stanhope Show

Egglestone Show

Page 24

Teesdale Community 
Day

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Police and Crime Panel

29 June 2018

Refreshed Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. To ask the Police and Crime Panel to consider the draft refreshed Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Plan 2018-2021 in advance of publication.

Background

2. Section 5 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires the PCVC to issue a 
Police and Crime Plan for the area. 

3. The Act requires that the Police and Crime Panel review a draft of the Plan, and publish a 
response, and that the PCVC has regard for, and responds to, any report or recommendations 
made by the Panel. 

4. The current Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan was published in November 2016. Now, half way 
through the PCVC’s current term of office, is an appropriate time to refresh the plan. Since 
2016 there have been two strategic assessments and a number of PEEL inspections, and 
recorded crime has been rising. Public confidence continues to be higher than in many other 
areas, although victim satisfaction has been falling. The nature of crime is also gradually 
changing, with ever-increasing emphasis on cyber-activity. At the same time, police forces 
continue to face financial pressures. The PCVC has also increased his activity beyond policing 
and in a broader community safety and criminal justice arena, including publishing with the PCC 
for Cleveland a Local Criminal Justice Partnership Plan in January 2018. 

5. With those factors in mind, a revised version of the Plan has been produced, and is presented 
with this covering paper. The plan is in draft form, and to be publication-ready it requires:

a) Any comments from the Police and Crime Panel to be considered;

b) Amendments to typesetting and graphics;

c) Proofreading.

Changes to 2016 version

6. The refreshed Plan is more clearly focussed on the work of a wide partnership of organisations, 
and reflects the growth of the PCVC’s work across the Criminal Justice System, whilst also 
emphasising the role of the PCVC in setting strategic objectives for the Chief Constable and 
holding the Force to account. Comments on the draft were received from the Safe Durham 
Partnership and the Darlington Community Safety Partnership, and the draft was also placed on 
the PCVC website and comments were invited from members of the public. 

7. The vision has been amended to say: 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



”County Durham and Darlington are areas where all communities are safe, victims and 
vulnerable people feel supported, crime and re-offending are low, and people have confidence 

in policing and the criminal justice system”.

8. It contains four ‘outcomes’, replacing the three ‘aims’ in the previous plan. The outcomes are: 

 Communities are safe and crime is reduced

 Victims and the vulnerable feel supported

 Re-offending is reduced and rehabilitation is improved

 People have confidence in the Police and the Criminal Justice System

9. Reducing reoffending is the additional element here; the other three outcomes reflect the 
three aims in the current plan. 

10. The refreshed Plan also contains twelve ‘priorities’ replacing the previous ten ‘objectives’: 

• Ensure that victims are supported at all stages of the criminal justice system

• Address the root causes of offending and support the rehabilitation of people who have 
offended

• Safeguard vulnerable people 

• Improve road safety

• Reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drugs

• Improve community safety in rural areas

• Tackle and prevent:

• domestic abuse and sexual violence in all their forms

• hate crime

• fraud

• anti-social behaviour

• modern slavery

• cyber-enabled crime

11. The differences between this list, and the previous list of ‘objectives’, are:

- Second priority addresses root causes of offending and the rehabilitation of people who 
have offended, rather than just emphasising reducing reoffending

- Fraud is an additional priority

- Modern Slavery is an additional priority

12. How the vision, outcomes, Key Performance Questions, priorities and services all fit together is 
set out in a Plan on the Page within the document.

13. The Plan also contains a table in the appendix, headed ‘How I work with partners to deliver our 
priorities’. This takes the objectives in the Police Business Plan, the LCJP Plan, and the action 
plans of the two Community Safety Partnerships and associates them with the priorities in the 
Plan. This therefore shows how the plan is being delivered by a wider partnership of 
organisations. 

Page 26



Performance Management

14. The revised plan includes a refreshed approach to managing performance. There are eight ‘Key 
Performance Questions:

 How safe are our communities?
 How well are we preventing and reducing crime?
 How well are victims supported to cope and recover, and engage in criminal justice 

processes? 
 How well are vulnerable people supported?
 How well are we reducing re-offending? 
 How well are we rehabilitating people who have offended?
 How confident are people in the Criminal Justice System? 
 How confident are people in the Police? 

15. Updating the position on these will form the basis of the quarterly performance reports which 
the Panel receives in the future, and which are made public. The updates about each question 
will be based on a combination of qualitative and quantitative information. 

Service Delivery

16. The Plan explains that in order to deliver the vision, outcomes and priorities, there are range of 
services involved. These are broadly in three categories:

a) Police

b) Local Criminal Justice Partnership

c) Community Safety and Preventative services, including those commissioned by the 
OPCVC.

17. The Plan therefore goes on to say that sitting below the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan will be 
further detail on each of those, set out in:

a) Policing Plan

b) Local Criminal Justice Partnership Plan (published in January 2018)

c) OPCVC Commissioning Strategy

Proposed next steps

18. Following discussion at the Police and Crime Panel and production of a report, we intend to 
publish the Plan in early July.

Recommendation

19. That the Panel 

a) provide feedback on the Plan and ask any questions; 

b) produce a report which the OPCVC will then publish online.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 27



Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
The Plan contains information about the PCVC’s and Durham Constabulary’s budget.
Staffing
None
Equality and Diversity
None
Accommodation
None
Crime and Disorder
Part of the purpose of the plan is to set out aims with regard to the reduction of crime and disorder.
Children's Act 2004
None
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
The document has been consulted upon with partners and open for consultation with the public. In 
addition, OPCVC strategy and policy is informed by regular engagement with members of 
communities.
Environment
None
Collaboration and Partnerships
The Plan sets out the importance of working in partnership with a range of organisations.
Value for Money and Productivity
None
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
N/A
Commissioning
None
Other risks
None

Contact Officer: Jon Carling
Job Title: Head of Policy and Communications
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 28

mailto:jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


POLICE, CRIME & 
VICTIMS’ PLAN 
FOR DURHAM
2018 - 2021

County Durham 
& Darlington

Page 29



Contents

Page 2

Foreword 3

My Plan 4 

Your Community 6

My Role 10

Achieving the Outcomes 12

Service Delivery 23

Plan on a Page 26

Governance and Accountability 28

Resources 30

Appendix
How the PCVC Plan links to other partnerships

 

34

Page 30



Foreword
In 2016 I was delighted to be re-elected 
as your Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner. Now, half way through 
my current term of office, I am taking the 
opportunity to refresh my Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Plan for the period to 2021. The Plan 
sets out what I hope to achieve during that 
time, and lays foundations for the longer-
term. 

In 2016, I added the word ‘victims’ to my job 
title, to make it ‘Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner’. The needs of victims are 
at the heart of my work. Victims don’t ask 
to be victims. For the vast majority, the 
experience is completely unexpected. Many 
are vulnerable; some have mental health 
problems. All of them should be offered 
support to cope and recover. Since 2016 
I have set up a number of victim-focused 
services, details of which you will find in this 
Plan. A key priority for me going forward is 
ensuring that victims receive the support they 
require to cope, recover and engage in the 
justice system; not just from the police, but 
other services as well.

Of course, I cannot achieve the ambitions 
set out in this plan by working alone, or even 
just by working with Durham Constabulary. 
Every day I have conversations with politicians 
and senior staff from our Local Authorities, 
NHS organisations, criminal justice partners 
and the other emergency services, so that 
we are as joined-up as possible in the work 
we do to serve local people.  This refreshed 
plan emphasises that in order to achieve the 
objectives set out within it, partners across 
the criminal justice system, health and local 
government landscape need to work together.

Most importantly, I will want to work with 
local people. I want to be able to speak to 
local residents, hear what they have to say, 

and influence the work of others to meet local 
needs. It will always be important to me to 
be visible and accessible so that you can raise 
issues with me directly, and I will continue 
to use your money as efficiently as possible, 
to maintain Durham’s position as the most 
efficient Police force in the country 1. My Plan 
continues to be based firmly on the issues you 
have told me that you are facing. 

Crime has changed over the past few decades, 
and it will continue to change in the future. 
There is no single type of crime called 
‘cybercrime’. Many offenders use technology 
and the internet to support the offences they 
commit: tackling cyber-enabled and cyber-
dependent crime is a mainstream activity for 
modern policing, and we need to continue to 
work in partnership to combat it.

I will continue to campaign nationally for fair 
funding for policing and victims’ services, and 
I will be looking to influence the Government 
to reform policy relating to alcohol and drugs, 
road safety, regulation of private landlords 
and other matters. 

I will continue to hold the force to account.  
Durham Constabulary was rated as the best 
Police Force in England and Wales by HM 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services last year. The Chief Constable 
and I want to maintain these exceptionally 
high standards.   

Ron Hogg
Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

1 HM Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services Page 3

Page 31



7

1 2 3

8 9

Ensure that victims are 
supported at all stages of 

the criminal justice 
system 

Address the root causes 
of offending and support 

the rehabilitation of 
people who have 

offended 

Safeguard vulnerable 
people 

Tackle domestic abuse 
and sexual violence in all 

its forms 
Tackle hate crime Tackle fraud 

My Plan

County Durham and Darlington are areas where all 
communities are safe, victims and vulnerable people feel 

supported, crime and reoffending are low, and people have 
confidence in policing and the criminal justice system.

My plan sets out my vision for County Durham and Darlington, 
and how I expect the vision to be achieved

MY VISION

Communities are safe and 
crime is reduced

Victims and the vulnerable 
feel supported

Reoffending is reduced and 
rehabilitation is improved

People have confidence in 
the Police and the Criminal 

Justice System

OUTCOMES

Page 4

Page 32



12

4 5 6

10 11

I am setting some Key Performance Questions which will help to determine whether these 
outcomes are being achieved. I will use a range of qualitative and quantitative measures 
to answer these questions, and will publish progress updates against the outcomes in my 
quarterly performance report on my website.

KEY PERFORMANCE QUESTIONS

Those Key Performance Questions (KPQs) are:
1 How safe are our communities?

2 How well are we preventing and reducing crime?

3 How well are victims supported to cope and recover, and engage in criminal justice 
processes?

4 How well are vulnerable people supported?

5 How well are we reducing reoffending?

6 How well are we rehabilitating people who have offended?

7 How confident are people in the Criminal Justice System?

8 How confident are people in the Police?

Achieving these aims requires joint working between many local partners:

• The Police, under the leadership of the Chief Constable

• Agencies of the Local Criminal Justice Partnership and Local Authorities

• A wider range of services provided by other organisations in the public and voluntary and 
community sectors – including some services which I commission and fund direct

MY PRIORITIES
I have also identified twelve priorities which I expect the Police and our partners to focus on in 
the course of us achieving the outcomes. The twelve priorities are:

Improve road safety Reduce the harm caused 
by alcohol and drugs

Improve community 
safety in rural areas

Tackle anti-social 
behaviour Tackle modern slavery Tackle cyber-enabled 

crime

Page 5

Page 33



Your Community

The Durham Constabulary policing area 
covers the Local Authority areas of Darlington 
Borough Council and Durham County Council. 
The area has a population of approximately 
618,2002.  

The Constabulary area is divided into the 12 
neighbourhood policing teams shown on the 
map overleaf.  

Durham Constabulary shares borders with 
Northumbria, Cleveland, Cumbria and North 
Yorkshire police forces.  

Darlington is our largest town and lies in the 
south of the area. Durham City and the larger 
industrial towns are in the east and north of 
the area, contrasting with the west which is 
predominantly rural.  

The population of the area is predominantly 
white British. Areas such as Durham City, with 
its large university population, Darlington, and 
some of our larger towns have more notably 
diverse cultures and populations, and it is vital 
that we understand the needs of people with 

protected characteristics, and work closely 
with them.   

The force area is also diverse economically. It 
is experiencing a significant direct investment 
in jobs and infrastructure, most visibly in 
Durham City and Darlington. Ensuring that we 
have safe communities where people want 
to live, work and do business will remain an 
essential part of continuing to drive economic 
growth in the area. There has also been 
substantial job creation in the east of County 
Durham, and Newton Aycliffe. But many 
of the towns and villages in the area have 
challenges related to industrial decline, with 
high degrees of unemployment – frequently 
inter-generationally. 

Many people live in very difficult financial 
circumstances. Often in these villages, and 
in the rural areas to the west of the area, 
we also see problems associated with social 
isolation. These different challenges require 
different responses.

The communities of County 
Durham & Darlington are varied 
& diverse

POPULATION

618,200

12

NEIGHBOURHOOD
POLICING

TEAMS

 2 2011 census

Page 34



CONSETT

CROOK

BARNARD 
CASTLE

BISHOP 
AUCKLAND

STANLEY

DURHAM

CHESTER
-LE-STREET

SEAHAM

PETERLEE
SPENNY-
MOOR

DARLINGTON

NEWTON 
AYCLIFFE

THE NEIGHBOURHOOD 
POLICING TEAMS

Page 7

Here I am with the Horden Young Citizens Project 
taking part in the Big Spring Clean Page 35



Page 8

Visiting every community is very important to me. 
Here I am talking to the residents of Derwentside. Page 36



Your Community
Communicating and 
engaging with our 
communities 
I am your voice in policing, and it is therefore 
important that I have an ongoing dialogue 
with you to ensure that I am representing 
your views.  It is also important that the Con-
stabulary have meaningful and appropriate 
communication with local people to ensure 
that they are doing all that they can to ad-
dress local needs.  

It is vital that this communication is two way.  
We need to listen to our communities and 
hear about the issues that matter to them.  
We also need to ensure that we tell them, on 
an ongoing basis, how we are tackling those 
issues. I know that this is something we can 
improve upon. It is also important that we 
use the full range of communication meth-
ods available to us to ensure a greater reach 
across all communities.    

The public tell me that it is important to them 
to see police officers on the street; in reality 
we don’t have as many officers as we used 
to – or as many as we would want.  However 
this does not mean that the Constabulary are 
withdrawing from communities - quite the 
opposite.  The Constabulary value all of the 
essential information which the community 
provides.  The demands on the service today 
mean that a mix of traditional policing with 
targeted approaches and innovative solu-
tions are needed to meet the demands of the 
business.  This may mean that PACT meetings 
have changed in some areas: officers are now 
going along to other community activities and 
meetings to see what the issues are in the 
community. All of the neighbourhood teams 
now also use social media to be visible and 

engage with local communities.

As our black and minority ethnic populations 
are small in number this makes it even more 
important that we communicate and engage 
effectively with those communities.  We have 
excellent relations with the university, faith 
groups and networks, and an Independent Ad-
visory Group covering the interests of people 
from ethnic minorities, LGBT+ people, and 
people with disabilities across the Constabu-
lary area. Going forward, I want to make sure 
that as much as possible we are seeking the 
views of people and taking them into account 
in how we deliver services.

Page 9

Page 37



MY ROLE
The roles and responsibilities of the PCVC and the Chief 
Constable are distinct and complementary

POLICE, CRIME AND VICTIMS’ 
COMMISSIONER (PCVC)
I am responsible for ensuring that the 
policing services across County Durham and 
Darlington are effective and efficient.  As well 
as holding the Chief Constable to account 
on behalf of you, the local people, my role 
involves: 

Representing and engaging with those who 
live and work in the various communities 
in the Constabulary area, including the 
vulnerable and victims, to identify their 
policing needs;

• Setting police and crime objectives through 
the Police and Crime Plan;

• Publishing an Annual Report; 

• Appointing the Chief Constable, holding 
them to account for running the force, and 
if necessary calling on them to retire or 
resign;

• Setting the police precept and budget; 

• Being responsible for holding community 
safety budgets and commissioning victim 
services;

• Addressing complaints against the Chief 
Constable;

• Bringing together partners to make sure 
the local criminal justice system is efficient 
and effective.  

Crucially, the role I play extends well beyond 
that of the police service. Indeed, if I worked 
in isolation with the police and did not ensure 
the involvement of a range of other agencies, 
my objectives would be unachievable.

Nationally, I am also the lead portfolio holder 
for the Association of Police and Crime 
Commissioners (APCC) on Workforce matters, 
and I am Chair of the national Police Staff 
Council. I am a member of the APCC standing 
groups on Criminal Justice, Mental Health and 
Substance Misuse.

Page 10

Page 38



CHIEF CONSTABLE 
The Chief Constable, Michael Barton, is 
committed to leading a force which delivers 
excellent policing to the people of County 
Durham and Darlington, and inspiring 
confidence in victims and our communities 
by: Protecting Neighbourhoods, Tackling 
Criminals,  Solving Problems ...around the 
clock.  

He is responsible for the ‘direction and 
control’ of the Police Officers and Police 
Staff to deliver effective and efficient 
policing services across County Durham and 
Darlington. He is operationally independent. 
The “Policing Protocol” sets out how the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable must work together.   

The Chief Constable works collaboratively 
with partners to make communities safer and 
tackle crime.  

He holds several national positions including: 

• Head of Crime Operations Coordination 
Committee for the National Police Chiefs’ 
Council (NPCC). 

• National Policing Lead for a range of 
intelligence sharing databases and 
systems:  Police National Database, Home 
Office Large Major Enquiry System and the 
Schengen Information System.  

• Chair of the National Specialist Capabilities 
Delivery Board

Page 11

Page 39



1ACHIEVING 
THE OUTCOMES
COMMUNITIES ARE SAFE AND CRIME IS REDUCED
Key Performance Questions:
How safe are our communities?
How well are we preventing and reducing crime?

County Durham and Darlington remain 
amongst the safest places to live, work and 
visit in the country. 

Keeping communities safe is the essence 
of policing. The Chief Constable and I want 
the communities of County Durham and 
Darlington to be safe and feel safe. We know 
that communities with low crime rates are 
more cohesive and resilient. They are more 
likely to engage with services and report crime 
and anti-social behaviour. From speaking 
to local people, I know that the number of 
people who are concerned about anti-social 
behaviour remains high. Anti-social behaviour 
can have a significant impact upon a victim’s 
quality of life. Increasing the confidence 
of our communities around this issue is 

very important, and we need to provide 
reassurance that it is taken seriously. 

However keeping our communities safe, and 
cutting crime and anti-social behaviour, are 
not jobs for the Constabulary alone. It takes 
effort from a wide range of organisations 
across the public and voluntary sectors 
working together, and working with local 
people in all areas, urban and rural alike. 

There are a range of powers and options 
available to partner organisations to tackle 
anti-social behaviour. I am keen to work 
with communities and our partners and to 
hold them to account, to utilise the options 
available to ensure that anti-social behaviour 
continues to fall, and to improve public 
confidence. 

Headlines
• Hold the Police and partners to account to ensure that they tackle and prevent crime and 

anti-social behaviour effectively

• Support campaigns to raise awareness of the importance of road safety

• Work with businesses and local people to help protect them from the threats of cyber-
enabled crime

• Campaign for changes in the law which will help partners keep communities safer, 
including:

 ◦ Reform of the law on drugs so that people are not unnecessarily criminalised and 
can access the treatment they need

 ◦ Introduction of minimum unit pricing for alcohol, to reduce the harm caused by 
over-consumption of cheap drinks like white cider

 ◦ Bring in greater powers to regulate the behaviour of private landlords.

Page 12

Page 40



Road safety remains a key concern when 
I speak with local people across the 
Constabulary area. People are particularly 
concerned about speeding vehicles, and 
dangerous driving. The number of people 
killed and seriously injured in road traffic 
collisions has been increasing (2015-16 data). 
Education is a key tool in making our roads 
safer and I will continue to support awareness 
raising campaigns to change behaviour. 

Cyber-enabled and cyber-dependent crime 
is increasing. Collaboration and partnership 
working is needed across the country 
to enhance our capability to tackle this 
growing area. This type of crime is thought 
to be largely under-reported, and it is now 
estimated that more than half of all crime 
is cyber-enabled. Awareness-raising plays 
an important role in tackling cybercrime: 
people often do not realise that they have 
fallen victim, or that there is help available to 
them. Education is key to ensuring that our 
communities, including the business sector, 
have the knowledge and ability to protect 
themselves against cyber-enabled crime. I will 
continue to work with partners to increase 
understanding of the threats and risks faced 
by businesses and individuals, raise awareness 
of the things people can do to protect 
themselves, and reduce the number of people 
who fail to do so. 

The harm caused by alcohol and drug misuse 
continues to be a concern and places a 
huge demand on the police and across the 
wider front line public sector services. I will 
continue to campaign, in partnership with 
influential people locally and nationally, for 
changes in the law such as minimum unit 
pricing for alcohol. In addition to tackling the 
organised crime groups who supply illegal 

drugs, I believe that to support those with 
addiction an approach based on treatment 
and recovery, rather than criminalisation, is 
needed so that we can tackle the root cause 
of their behaviour. I set out my proposals in 
this area in Towards a Safer Drugs Policy, 
published in July 2017. I continue to support 
education programmes and campaigns to 
raise awareness of the harm caused by 
alcohol and substance misuse, as early 
intervention is key. 

I will be monitoring the Constabulary’s 
response to the Strategic Policing 
Requirement (SPR) as set by the Home 
Secretary. The SPR focuses on those areas 
where there is a responsibility for ensuring 
that sufficient capabilities are in place to 
respond to serious and cross-boundary 
criminality, including working with national 
agencies such as the National Crime Agency.  

We are seeking to prevent threats including: 

• Terrorism

• Civil Emergencies

• Public order

• Child sexual exploitation and child sexual 
abuse

• Serious and organised crime 

• Cyber threats

Page 13

Page 41



2
Headlines
• Work through the Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal Justice Partnership to create an 

end-to-end system of care and support for victims and witnesses to help them cope and 
recover from the impact of crime and engage in criminal justice processes.

• Monitor the success of services which provide support for victims and vulnerable people, 
including those with mental ill-health, whilst always seeking to improve current services 
and identify any further areas of support that may be needed.

• Work with partners to commission new services for victims of domestic abuse.

• Seek to expand the Community Peer Mentors project so that it is embedded across the 
Force area.

ACHIEVING 
THE OUTCOMES
VICTIMS AND THE VULNERABLE FEEL SUPPORTED
Key Performance Questions:
How well are victims supported to cope and recover, and engage in criminal justice processes? 
 How well are vulnerable people supported?

I have emphasised throughout this Plan, the 
importance and priority I am giving to putting 
victims first. The impact of crime and anti-
social behaviour can be devastating.

I want to improve the experience of victims 
and witnesses and to ensure that their voices 
are heard throughout the criminal justice 
process. I also want to ensure that support 
- practical and emotional - is available for 
victims and witnesses to help them to cope 
and recover, and that the support is suited 
to their individual needs. Creating an end-to-
end system of care and support for victims 
and witnesses is a central objective of the 
Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership Plan. 

In 2016 I introduced, with my Cleveland 
counterpart, Barry Coppinger, the Victim Care 
and Advice Service (VCAS). VCAS focuses on 
the needs of individuals, helping them to 

cope and recover, and where appropriate 
signposting them to a specialist service to 
meet their specific requirements. Some of 
the more specialist services include the Hate 
Crime Advocacy Service and Mental Health 
Advocacy Service, which have helped victims 
to have a voice and a sense of confidence 
that they can achieve what they need from a 
prosecution or a trial in court. 

Whilst I am pleased to have put in place 
a number of victim services over the past 
two years, I know there is more to do. 
The contract for the Hate Crime Advocacy 
Service has been renewed and revised, 
and I have recently contracted a voluntary 
sector organisation to work with victims of 
forced marriage, honour-based violence and 
female genital mutilation. I intend to build on 
what we already have to ensure that there 
are comprehensive support services. I am 

Page 14

Page 42



exploring the need for additional services 
for victims of domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, working with the Police and partners 
in local authorities and the National Health 
Service. I am also leading work to improve 
the overall victim experience of the Criminal 
Justice System.

I am also supporting victims through 
investment in restorative justice. The 
Restorative Hub employs staff and delivers 
specialist training to volunteers. It supports 
victims by giving them the chance to 
communicate with the offender in the 
aftermath of a crime, with a facilitator 
present. This allows them to have a voice in 
the Criminal Justice process and a chance to 
get the answers or explanation they deserve. 
There is evidence that it helps victims to cope 
and recover whilst it also highlights the impact 
of their behaviour to those who offend. I 

intend to grow the use of Restorative Justice 
more over the next three years.

I will continue to work with partners to 
support vulnerable people, so that they do 
not become victims of crime and anti-social 
behaviour or become involved in crime. 
Significant numbers of incidents which the 
Police deal with involve people with mental 
health issues, for example. I and my partners 
such as the Local Authorities and the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have 
signed a Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. 
The Concordat sets out how organisations 
will work together better to make sure that 
people get the help they need when they 
are having a mental health crisis. Last year 
I liaised with the CCGs who began to fund a 
team of mental health nurses, operating in 
the Police Control Room. As mental health 
professionals, they advise police on good 

Page 15

Myself along with Cleveland PCC Barry Coppinger and John Bentley at the launch of VCAS

Page 43



2
practice when dealing with people in difficult 
circumstances. 

In addition, I promote referral to Liaison and 
Diversion services. These identify people 
who have mental health, learning disability, 
substance misuse or other vulnerabilities 
when they first come into contact with the 
CJS as suspects, defendants or offenders. 
The services can then support people into 
appropriate health or social care or enable 
them to be diverted away from the CJS into a 
service more focused on their health needs.

I will continue to work with partners to 
understand and tackle the rising problem 
of Modern Slavery in the area. I will work 
to raise its profile and ensure that there are 
effective mechanisms for ensuring victims 
recognise that they have been trafficked and/
or enslaved and have the confidence and 
knowledge to report. I will ask the police to 
ensure that potential victims are referred 
to the National Referral Mechanism and 
provided with the necessary support.

I will be looking to expand the Community 
Peer Mentor project further to ensure that 
it is embedded across the whole of the force 
area, that the number of available mentors 
increases, and that people who would 
benefit from the service can be identified and 
supported successfully. This unique service 
aims to support those suffering from anti-
social behaviour and neighbourhood disputes, 
seeking to find solutions which take away 
the stress and upset which they are facing. A 
significant number of clients have tended to 

ACHIEVING 
THE OUTCOMES
VICTIMS AND THE VULNERABLE FEEL SUPPORTED

be frequent callers to the emergency services. 
They have often found that those services 
were unable to meet their needs, and were 
therefore left feeling vulnerable and isolated. 
The Community Peer Mentors provide 
a different approach, looking to identify 
solutions and support from other service 
providers, including charities and community 
groups. 

I am also reviewing, with my NHS, local 
Authority and Constabulary colleagues the 
support provided to victims of sexual abuse 
at the Sexual Abuse Referral Centre. It is so 
important that victims of these terrible crimes 
are provided with the treatment they need, 
and we will make sure that services such as 
crisis care and counselling meet their needs as 
far as possible.

Page 16

Page 44



Page 17

Mental Health Nurses have been introduced into the force control room Page 45



3ACHIEVING 
THE OUTCOMES
REOFFENDING IS REDUCED AND REHABILITATION IS IMPROVED
Key Performance Questions:
How well are we reducing reoffending? 
How well are we rehabilitating people who have offended?

Headlines
• Work through the Local Criminal Justice Partnership to create an end-to-end system for 

people who have offended.

• Work with partners to: 

 ◦ Identify individuals at risk of reoffending

 ◦ Implement measures to ensure adults and young people are supported to desist 
from crime

• Continue to invest in Youth Offending Services that focus on avoiding unnecessary 
criminalisation of young people.

• Continue to support and potentially expand the CheckPoint diversion scheme.

Offending and reoffending rates both 
nationally and locally have remained 
stubbornly high. In Durham and Darlington 
around a third of people who offend3, 
reoffend within 12 months . There are 
also many examples of inter-generational 
reoffending, where members of the same 
families are locked into a pattern of criminal 
activity. I am committed to reducing this. 

In order to prevent crime and stop people 
who have offended from committing further 
crimes, partners need to work together to 
implement effective measures to ensure 
adults and young people who offend are 
challenged and supported to desist from 
crime. Support for offenders with mental ill-
health is a key part of this.

Prevention and early intervention initiatives 
can have an impact on diverting individuals 
away from offending in the first place. Many 

people who offend come from vulnerable 
backgrounds and have had many challenges 
in their lives. Whilst this does not excuse 
their behaviour, it does mean that we should 
look at the root causes of their offending and 
tackle them. Targeted and desistance-based 
interventions are also required to rehabilitate 
individuals effectively and reduce reoffending. 
The Criminal Justice System needs to be 
effective in turning lives around and stopping 
people reoffending, rather than serving as a 
brief interlude in a criminal career. This will 
reduce crime, reduce the number of victims 
and make our communities safer.

 3 Insert source – MoJ binary reoffending measure

Page 18

Page 46



3
There are three key elements to this:

1. We need to identify who is at risk of 
offending, and ensure that appropriate 
support is in place to break the cycle of 
intergenerational offending

2. We should intervene early so that, 
where appropriate, individuals who 
want a change are diverted away from 
the Criminal Justice System and enabled 
to have positive outcomes 

3. We should provide targeted, desistance-
based interventions, and meaningful 
sentences which are effective at 
rehabilitating individuals 

Furthermore, I want to ensure that at every 
stage of the Criminal Justice System, people 
who have offended have access to services 
which are going to help reduce their offending 
in the future.

I am increasingly looking to invest resources 
to solve problems early and prevent 
escalation into larger and more complex 
issues which ultimately cost society and the 
taxpayer more to fix. I will continue to invest 
in Youth Offending Services, and promote 
approaches which do not criminalise young 
people unnecessarily.

I remain fully committed to implementing 
evidence-based early intervention strategies 
with the aim to divert individuals from the 
Criminal Justice System and to receive positive 
outcomes. This is crucial if we want to get to 
the root causes of involvement in crime and 
to prevent problems before they escalate. The 
Checkpoint Diversion scheme which is being 
piloted in our area is assisting in achieving this 
and it should reduce reoffending in the long 

term. It was introduced in April 2015 and is a 
multi-agency initiative that takes a problem 
solving approach to exploring why someone 
has offended and what can be done to stop 
them by tackling that root cause. Offenders 
who are eligible and agree to comply are 
placed on a four month contract tailored to 
suit their individual case, for example a drug 
or alcohol intervention, voluntary work and 
wearing a GPS tag.  Should they successfully 
complete the contract then they will not 
have to progress through the criminal justice 
system, but if they fail to complete the 
contract, including reoffending of any kind, 
they will be prosecuted.

The Local Criminal Justice Partnership (LCJP) 
is the main vehicle to deliver an end-to-
end system for rehabilitating offenders and 
reducing reoffending, ensuring that the police, 
youth offending services, Crown Prosecution 
Service, Courts, Community Rehabilitation 
Company, National Probation Service, and 
Prisons, work together to reduce reoffending. 
The LCJP plan for 2018-21 was published 
in January 2018. In addition to those core 
criminal justice agencies, it requires the 
support of those partners responsible 
for supporting victims and providing the 
services which help to prevent people 
offending, including Public Health, Housing, 
Employment, and Mental Health services, so 
that people can get access to the support that 
they need.

Page 19

Page 47



4ACHIEVING 
THE OUTCOMES
PEOPLE HAVE CONFIDENCE IN THE POLICE AND THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM 

Key Performance Questions:
How well are we reducing reoffending? 
How well are we rehabilitating people who have offended?

Headlines
• Maintain my commitment to having neighbourhood policing teams in place and ensure 

the Force continue to engage with local communities.

• Visit all parts of Durham and Darlington so that I can understand the issues they face; and 
then be the voice of communities in my conversations with the Chief Constable and other 
partner organisations.

• Grow use of technology and social media to connect with communities.

• Continue to identify issues facing rural communities, and work with partners to address 
them.

• Work with partners to maintain and improve confidence in policing and the criminal 
justice system.

Communities who feel confident in their 
local Police are also more likely to feel safe, 
report crimes, and provide information and 
intelligence about offenders or crimes. That’s 
why I have maintained my commitment to 
having neighbourhood police teams in place, 
across the area, despite the heavy cuts to the 
Police budget since 2010.

There are now 88 regular PACT (Police and 
Communities Together) meetings, at which 
local officers hear from local residents about 
the issues they face, and provide reassurance 
about how they are dealing with them. The 
Police will also continue to engage with 
local communities in a range of other ways 
depending on the local circumstances, for 
instance through established community 
groups, Area Action Partnerships, and Town 
and Parish Councils. 

It’s also important to me that local people feel 
they can speak to me and raise issues. I want 
to be the voice of local communities when I 
speak to the Chief Constable, and our partners 
across the criminal justice system, expressing 
your opinions and priorities and seeking to 
ensure that they are addressed. That’s why I 
try and spend at least a day each week with 
a local community, across all parts of County 
Durham and Darlington.

In order to maintain the dialogue between 
communities and the Police, we have invested 
in technology that minimises the time that 
officers spend away from the front line. The 
Constabulary are also making the best use 
of social media, with many neighbourhood 
policing teams having their own Facebook or 
Twitter accounts, connecting them directly 
to thousands of local people. The Keep in the 

Page 20

Page 48



Know system adds more capacity: it allows 
the Police and other organisations to send 
information direct to residents, including 
appeals for information and advice about 
crime prevention. It also enables the public 
to send information to the Police, quickly and 
confidentially.

Of course, every community is different, and 
has its own needs. I have spent a lot of time 
in the more rural parts of the Force area in 
recent years, and my annual Rural Statement 
includes commitments to keeping in touch, 
and to putting in place relevant interventions 
to support rural communities, such as night 
vision goggles, and a mechanism for farmers 
and others to mark their property so that 
it can be identified if stolen. Similarly, I am 

working with religious and minority ethnic 
groups to understand their needs, and to 
ensure that they feel confident to report 
matters to the Police. 

In addition to people having confidence in the 
police, I also want them to have confidence 
in the criminal justice system which serves 
their community. Over the next three years, 
I will be working with partners, building on 
progress achieved so far, to improve the 
local system so that it improves outcomes 
for victims, communities, and people who 
have offended. People need to know that, if 
they are a victim of crime, not only will the 
police treat them with respect and dignity and 
support them to recover, but the system as a 
whole will support them as well.

Page 21

Page 49



2025
Policing Vision 2025 includes these commitments:

LOCAL POLICING: by 2025 local policing will be aligned, and where appropriate 
integrated, with other local public services to improve outcomes for citizens and protect the 
vulnerable.

SPECIALIST CAPABILITIES: by 2025, to better protect the public we will enhance 
our responses to new and complex threats, we will develop our network and the way we 
deliver specialist capabilities by reinforcing and connecting policing locally, nationally and 
beyond.

WORKFORCE: by 2025 policing will be a profession with a more representative 
workforce that will align the right skills, powers and experience to meet challenging 
requirements.

DIGITAL POLICING: by 2025 digital policing will make it easier and more consistent 
for the public to make digital contact, improve our use of digital intelligence and evidence and 
ensure we can transfer all material in a digital format to the criminal justice system.

ENABLING BUSINESS DELIVERY: by 2025 police business support functions will 
be delivered in a more consistent manner to deliver efficiency and enhance interoperability 
across the police service.

By 2025 there will be clear accountability arrangements to 
support policing at the local, cross force and national levels.

I will be holding the Constabulary to account for the achievement of these objectives in 
Durham. I am pleased that good progress is already being made towards achieving them, and I 
will include updates each year in my annual reports.

POLICING VISION 
The National Police Chiefs Council and the Association of Police and 
Crime Commissioners published the Policing Vision 2025 in 2016. Durham 
Constabulary is putting in place measures to ensure that the vision will be 
achieved in Durham, ahead of schedule where possible.

Page 22

Page 50



SERVICE DELIVERY
My key partner for achieving the outcomes which I have set is of course Durham 
Constabulary, under the leadership of the Chief Constable. However, I work 
with a much wider range of partners every day. The ambitions of this Plan are 
therefore delivered in a variety of ways including:

BY THE POLICE

I set high-level objectives for the Chief 
Constable every year, and monitor the 
progress towards meeting those objectives 
every month. This happens at my monthly 
meetings with the Chief Constable and 
through frequent engagement between my 
team and police officers and staff.
The Police’s high-level objectives are set out 
in a Policing Plan, and are translated into 
operational tasks for the Constabulary in a 
Business Plan. You will find a copy of the 
Business Plan on my website: it is regularly 
updated, giving details of progress towards 
each task. 

THROUGH THE LOCAL 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE 

PARTNERSHIP

The Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal 
Justice Partnership (LCJP) brings together 
agencies with responsibility for delivering 
criminal justice, and services for victims 
and people who have offended.  The 
partners have agreed a clear vision: ‘County 
Durham, Darlington and Cleveland are 
areas where people have confidence in a 
local criminal justice system which supports 
victims, rehabilitates offenders and reduces 
reoffending, and delivers value for money’. 

The LCJP partners launched an innovative 
new plan in January 2018. It has three core 
objectives to be delivered by 2021:

1. An end-to-end service for supporting 
Victims and Witnesses.

2. An end-to-end system for rehabilitating 
offenders and reducing reoffending. 

3. The most efficient and integrated local 
criminal justice system in the country. 

Delivery of the LCJP plan will in particular aid 
delivery of the outcomes I have set.

Too often victims are let down by the system 
because they are passed from one agency to 
another and not properly supported. This has 
an impact both on their ability to cope and 
recover from crimes, and on the likelihood of 
justice being done. The plan will address this 
by creating seamless services for victims. 

Page 23

Page 51



The Ministry of Justice delegates funding 
for victims’ services to Police and Crime 
Commissioners. I use this funding for the 
Victims’ Care and Advice Service, assesses 
victims’ needs after they have suffered a 
crime and then provides them with direct 
support and, if necessary, gets them access to 
other more specialist services that will meet 
their needs. VCAS supports all victims of crime 
who request help whether the incident has 
been reported to the police or not. The grant 
also pays for services including Restorative 
Justice, Community Peer Mentors, and the 
Hate Crime Advocacy Service. 

People who commit offences need to be 
challenged and dealt with appropriately, 
however they often have many problems in 
their lives, in particular with accommodation, 
substance misuse, relationships, self-esteem, 
finances and employment.   In order to break 
the cycle of offending partners are going 
to work together to address the underlying 
issues of offending. This will help to prevent 
crime and result in fewer victims.

THROUGH COMMISSIONING 
AND INFLUENCING A RANGE 

OF LOCAL SERVICES TO 
PROMOTE COMMUNITY SAFETY 

AND PREVENT CRIME
Every day I and members of my staff are 
working with colleagues from a wide range 
of partner organisations. In addition to 
the police, these include other emergency 
services, Durham County Council and 
Darlington Borough Council, organisations 
within the National Health Service and a large 
number of community and voluntary sector 
organisations. 

Our discussions cover many of the issues 
which I have included as priorities. For 
example, road safety is a matter for all of us, 
as is tackling hate crime and preventing it by 
improving community cohesion. My aim is to 
ensure that we are all working to the same 

agenda, putting victims first and reducing the 
risk of crime and anti-social behaviour.

I have developed clear policy positions on 
those areas, and these are set out in the 
Policy Position Statements on my website. I 
use these to influence the delivery of services 
by others, where I have an interest: services 
to help people who use drugs and alcohol are 
supported by Durham County Council and 
Darlington Borough Council, for example.

Where there are gaps in services, or 
services which need additional funding to 
help meet my objectives, I have budgets 
to commission services. In addition to the 
grant I receive from the Ministry of Justice 
for Victims’ services, I also retain c. £1.2m 
of the Police Grant to fund services which 
reduce reoffending and promote community 
safety. In determining how this money is 
spent, and to put in place services which 
help meet the objectives in this plan, I work 
with local partners including the two local 
Community Safety Partnerships: the Safe 
Durham Partnership and the Darlington 
Community Safety Partnership. I will publish 
a Commissioning Strategy which sets out my 
approach to commissioning services.

My Community Safety Fund enables 
local community groups and voluntary 
organisations are to benefit from £150,000 
of grant funding across the area. The fund 
is managed by County Durham Community 
Foundation (CDCF) and includes a wide 
range of projects aiming to reduce crime 
and improve community safety. CDCF adds 
£50,000 to the £100,000 which I contribute, 
giving a total fund of £150,000.

Durham Constabulary has long standing and 
well established collaboration agreements 
and working arrangements with other forces 
and a range of partners, including councils, 
the fire and rescue service and criminal justice 
agencies (HM Courts and Tribunal Service, 
Crown Prosecution Service) etc.  These 
initiatives maximise outcomes not only for the 

Page 24

Page 52



agencies involved but for the communities of 
County Durham and Darlington.  

I am also working closely with partners in 
the Police, NHS and Local Authorities to co-
commission a range of services for victims of 
sexual violence and child sexual exploitation.

We continue to collaborate with other police 
forces and PCCs, primarily Northumbria, 
Cleveland and North Yorkshire police forces 
on a range of specialist capabilities and we 
are looking to expand and extend this over 
the next few years through the North East 
Transformation, Innovation and Collaboration 
programme. This programme will identify new 
areas for collaboration to improve capacity, 
effectiveness and value for money, and will 
also enable us to implement, on a regional 
basis, national changes to the way that certain 
services are provided.

Partnership working helps make the best 
use of our resources and often involves our 
wider police family, including those who give 
their valuable time by volunteering in a wide 
variety of roles. This is a great way of bringing 
communities into policing.  

Page 25

Michelle Cooper, CEO of County Durham Community Foundation, along with Georgia , myself, & Paul Lysaght from 
Durham Community Boxing Club, who have recieved money from the Community Safety Fund Page 53



PLAN ON A PAGE 
Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan on a page 2018-2021 
VISION: County Durham and Darlington are areas where all communities are safe, victims 
and vulnerable peoplpe feel supported, crime and reoffending are low, and people have confi-
dence in the criminal justice system.

Communities are safe and 
crime is reduced

Victims and the vulnerable 
feel supported

KPQ1: How safe are our communities?
KPQ3: How well are victims supported to cope 

and recover, and engage in criminal justice 
processes?

KPQ2: How well are we preventing and 
reducing crime?

KPQ4: How well are vulnerable people 
supported? 

• Ensure that victims are supported at all stages of the criminal justice system

• Address the root causes of offending and support the rehabilitation of people who have 
offended

• Safeguard vulnerable people 

• Improve road safety

• Reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drugs

• Improve community safety in rural areas

POLICING 
An Outstanding Constabulary which delivers efficient and 
effective policing, inspires confidence, supports victims, 

tackles crime, solves problems and keeps communities safe, 
and which will deliver the 2025 Policing Vision

LOCAL CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM 
An end-to-end local criminal justice system which delivers 

justice and rehabilitation efficiently, supports victims 
at every stage, and works in partnership and across 

agency boundaries to reduce reoffending

• Set strategic objectives through the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan 
and Policing Plan

• Set the police force budget

• Hold the Chief Constable to account

• Work in partnership to support objectives

• Set strategic objectives and a programme for change through 
a local criminal justice plan

• Commission and influence services to empower victims and 
enable them to cope and recover

• Commission and influence services to reduce reoffending 
and support rehabilitation

OUTCOMES

PRIORITIES

SERVICE DELIVERY 

Page 26

Page 54



Reoffending is reduced and 
rehabilitation is improved

People have confidence in the 
police and the criminal justice 

system

KPQ5: How well are we reducing reoffending?
KPQ7: How confident are people in the 

Criminal  Justice System?

KPQ6: How well are we rehabilitating people 
who have offended?

KPQ8: How confident are people in the 
police?

• Tackle and prevent:

• domestic abuse and sexual violence in all its forms

• hate crime

• fraud

• anti-social behaviour

• modern slavery

• cyber-enabled crime

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PREVENTION 
Effective and efficient local services, delivered in partnership 

to prevent crime and the causes of crime, promote 
community safety, and reduce demand in the long term.

LOCAL CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM 
An end-to-end local criminal justice system which delivers 

justice and rehabilitation efficiently, supports victims 
at every stage, and works in partnership and across 

agency boundaries to reduce reoffending
• Set strategic objectives and a programme for change through 

a local criminal justice plan

• Commission and influence services to empower victims and 
enable them to cope and recover

• Commission and influence services to reduce reoffending 
and support rehabilitation

• Commission and grant fund community safety programmes

• Work in partnership to secure services that support prevention and 
early intervention

• Influence partnership plans

Page 27

Page 55



I have developed a robust accountability 
framework to monitor the performance of 
Durham Constabulary and to enable scrutiny 
of the objectives as set out in this Plan.  A 
copy of the framework can be found in 
appendix two.  

I formally meet with the Chief Constable and 
the other senior officers every month at the 
Executive Board meetings.  This is where I 
hold the Chief Constable to account and any 
key decisions relating to the policing service 
are documented.  At the meetings a wide 
variety of topics are discussed, including: 

Progress towards the achievement of the 
Police and Crime Plan;

• Performance management;

• Budget and financial information; and

• Emerging threats and issues.  

On an annual basis I undertake a formal 
Performance and Development Review with 
the Chief Constable. This appraisal process is 
where I agree his personal objectives for the 
year ahead and discuss his performance.  

I will issue a public performance report on a 
quarterly basis to document the achievement 
of this Plan.  The report includes data for the 
key performance indicators as set out in the 
outcomes of this plan, as well as containing 
key performance information and explaining 
what lies behind the data for each of the 
objectives in the plan.  

I have developed additional scrutiny 
mechanisms to help to hold the Chief 
Constable to account.  These include:

• Joint Audit Committee;

• Independent Custody Visitor Scheme; and

• Rape and Domestic Abuse Scrutiny Panels. 

Further information about each of these 
mechanisms can be found on my website 
www.durham-pcc.gov.uk. 

In addition to the formal accountability 
mechanisms in place, the Chief Constable, 
my office and I have excellent working 
relationships which allows us to have a regular 
dialogue, and day-to-day accountability.  

GOVERNANCE 
AND ACCOUNTABILITY  
As the police have a duty to serve the public, and are funded by the taxpayer, 
it is vital that they are publicly held to account.  As your elected representative, 
giving you a voice in policing, I am dedicated to ensuring that this happens.  

Page 28

Page 56



The Police and Crime Panel (PCP) provide 
checks and balances on my work and 
activity. The Panel does not scrutinise 
Durham Constabulary but rather how I carry 
out my statutory responsibilities. While 
the Panel is there to challenge me, it also 
has a key role to support me in my role in 
enhancing the public accountability of the 
police force.

The panel is composed of 7 councillors 
from Durham County Council, 3 councillors 
from Darlington Borough Council, and two 
independent co-opted members. 

The diagram below illustrates the 
accountability framework.  It shows my 

relationship with the Chief Constable and how 
I am ultimately responsible to the public, and 
the additional scrutiny mechanisms which are 
in place. 

The panel has a number of powers and 
responsibilities, including to:

• Review my draft police and crime plan;  

• Publicly scrutinise my annual report;

• Review and scrutinise the decisions and 
actions I take;

• Review and veto my proposed precept 
levels;  

• Review my conduct;

• Review and confirm my proposed 
appointments of Chief Constable, Chief 
Executive, and Chief Finance Officer; and

• Handle and determine complaints against 
me.

POLICE & CRIME 
PANEL 

Page 29

Page 57



RESOURCES
RESOURCES WILL CONTINUE TO BE TIGHT, AND 
WE WILL ALWAYS NEED TO BE EFFICIENT

I need to ensure that taxpayers’ money is 
used as effectively and efficiently as possible. 
I am required to: 

• Secure an efficient and effective policing 
service for the area; 

• Set the police precept (police element of 
Council Tax) and set the budget; and

• Commission services to support victims 
and vulnerable people, and improve 
community safety.

• Set the annual budget for the 
Constabulary.    

I am committed to ensuring that this plan 
will be delivered in the most efficient 
and effective manner to ensure that the 
service provided offers value for money to 
the communities of County Durham and 
Darlington. Effective and efficient use of 
resources coupled with a good understanding 
of the demand on services allows us to 
coordinate and align resources so that we 
can invest in preventative services to address 
issues before they worsen and cause us 
greater harm.  

I am also committed to innovation. Durham 
is a leader in innovation with initiatives such 
as: 

• Checkpoint, a diversion scheme for low 
level offending.

• The region’s first Community Safety 
Responders who work for Durham 
Constabulary as PCSOs, for County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Service as retained firefighters and as first 
responders for the North East Ambulance 
Service (NEAS).

• The use of body worn video technology 
which encourages early guilty pleas, 
which in turn saves resources and 
achieves better outcomes for victims.  

• Emergency Services Hub at Barnard 
Castle, which is home to the Police, 
Fire and Rescue Service, North East 
Ambulance Service, and the Teesdale and 
Weardale Search and Mountain Rescue 
Team.

DURHAM 
CONSTABULARY 

HAS BEEN, FOR THE 
LAST THREE YEARS, 

THE MOST EFFICIENT 
POLICE FORCE IN 

THE COUNTRY
HMICFRS

Finance and Efficiency

Page 30

Page 58



As Government funding for policing and crime 
continues to be constrained, I will continue to 
highlight how important it is for funding levels 
to meet the needs of County Durham and 
Darlington, and campaign for fair funding. 

The two main sources of funding for Durham 
Constabulary are Government grant and the 
police precept (police element of Council Tax).  

Whilst continuing to reduce the amount 
of grant I receive every financial year the 
Government also only allow me to increase 
the precept by a certain level.  This means 
if our area’s precept did not increase in any 
particular year, the baseline (and therefore 
the budget) would be lower for every 
subsequent year. This would make the 
Constabulary less resilient to future budget 
reductions. Indeed, as Government funding 
has reduced, our dependence on the precept 
has increased.

In collaboration with the Constabulary I have 
updated the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP), which projects our financial position 

over the next four years.  The projections in 
the plan will require some difficult decisions.  
It is anticipated that the Government’s public 
sector funding reduction programme will 
continue beyond 2020. This will require the 
ongoing need to find efficiencies across both 
the force and my office.  

Of the total budget of £116 million for 2018-
19, I have allocated the Constabulary a budget 
of £113.7m. I have split the remaining £2.3m 
into:

• £1.739 million for commissioning activity. 
This includes my Community Safety Fund, 
and Community Safety Grants for victim 
and specialist support services;  

• £1.071 million to my office, as I have a 
small team to assist me in effectively 
fulfilling my role.  I am determined to keep 
this as lean and as efficient as possible, at 
the same time as ensuring I have sufficient 
support to work with partners to deliver 
the reforms and improvements that are 
necessary.  

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

Estimate

Income £m £m £m £m £m

Grant 84.7 84.7 84.7 84.7 84.7

Council Tax5 28.6 31.5 33.7 35.0 36.5

Total 113.3 116.2 118.4 119.7 121.2

Expenditure 113.3 116.2 118.4 119.7 121.2

Difference 0 0 0 0 0

5 Assumes a £12 Band D increase in 2019/20 and 2% per annum thereafter
Page 31

Page 59



Page 32

Page 60



RESOURCES
People

The Chief Constable and I recognise that our people are our organisations’ greatest assets. 
Their knowledge, passion and attitude are the driving force which makes Durham unique and 
different – the Durham Difference.

This means ensuring that officers and staff are recruited, trained and developed as effectively 
as possible.  It is also expected that officers and staff numbers will be stable over the next 
four years.  In addition, the Constabulary will also continue to recruit Special Constables and 
volunteers in addition to the regular recruitment of PCSOs, Police Officers and police staff.  

I am a strong advocate of diversity across County Durham and Darlington. I aim to achieve 
a culture that values difference, and I expect the Chief Constable to attract and retain 
a workforce which reflects the local community.  Consultation with the public and key 
stakeholders will be carried out in respect of diversity where necessary. 

CONTACT ME
You can contact me in a variety of ways, inlcuding on social media. Just search for Durham PCC 
on the following sites:

Address 
ODPCVC 

Police Headquarters 
Aykley Heads 

Durham 
DH1 5TT

Phone 
0191 375 2001

Email 
general.enquiries@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk

www.durham-pcc.gov.uk
Page 33

Page 61



APPENDIX
How the PCVC Plan links to other partnerships

PCVC Plan 
Outcomes LCJP Plan

One 
Darlington: 

Perfectly Safe

Safe Durham 
Partnership 

Plan
• Victims and the 

vulnerable feel 
supported

• And end-to-
end system for 
supporting victims 
and witnesses

• Supporting 
vulnerable 
people, with a 
particular focus 
on addressing 
domestic abuse, 
hate crime and 
sexual violence

• Reduce Anti-social 
behaviour

• Counter terrorism 
and prevention of 
violent extremism

• Implement 
measures to 
promote a safe 
environment

• Reoffending is 
reduced and 
rehabilitation is 
improved

• An end-to-
end system for 
rehabilitating 
offenders and 
reducing offending

• Reducing 
offending and 
reoffending

• Reducing the 
harmful effects of 
drugs, alcohol and 
tobacco.

• Working with 
families with 
multiple problems

• Protect vulnerable 
people from harm

• People have 
confidence in the 
police and the 
criminal justice 
system

• The most efficient 
and integrated 
local criminal 
justice system in 
the country

• Reduce 
reoffending

• Embed the Think 
Family Approach

• Alcohol and 
substance misuse 
harm reduction

Page 34

Page 62



Page 35

Page 63



Page 64



1

Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

Crime Statistics

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. To advise Police and Crime Panel Members about the current picture with regard to 
recorded crime statistics.

Background

2. The number of crimes recorded by Durham Constabulary has nearly doubled since 
2014. The PCVC wrote to all Councillors on 12th February 2018 to explain the rise, and 
this letter is attached at Appendix two. It explained that there are three main reasons:

 Changes to the National Crime Recording Standards
 Increased confidence in Durham Constabulary leading to more frequent 

reporting
 Increase in some crime types e.g. acquisitive crime.

3. This paper updates members as to the current position, and also provides information 
about the solved rate.

Change in recorded crime

4. This table shows the total number of crimes recorded each month since January 2016:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Apr 3704 5165 5066
May 3732 5311 6097
Jun 3376 5249 5894
Jul 3625 5462

Aug 3546 5290
Sep 3635 4847
Oct 3651 5217
Nov 3503 5185
Dec 3918 5069
Jan 4505 4939
Feb 4415 4622
Mar 4995 5035

Total 46605 61391 11163
Source: Durham Constabulary Management Information System (DCOP)

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



2

5. For context, the total number of crimes recorded in 2014-15 was 32,843, and in 2015-
16 was 36,634.

6. The graph below shows the change in recorded crime in Durham Constabulary since 
April 2016, against the solved rate (i.e. the number of crimes that the police have 
solved).

Graph to show change in total recorded crime and number of solved crimes per month

Source: Durham Constabulary Management Information System (DCOP)

7. Whilst recorded crime has risen, the number of crimes that the Constabulary is solving 
has also risen, against a backdrop of decreasing resources. Durham Constabulary 
solved 24% of all crimes in 2017-18.

8. Durham Constabulary calculates its solved rate based on the outcome of a recorded 
crime. There are 21 potential outcomes for a crime, 14 of which mean a crime is 
resolved (for example, Outcome 1 – Charged or Summonsed), and 7 of which mean a 
crime is not resolved (for example, Outcome 18 – Investigation Complete - No Suspect 
Identified). In terms of a national comparison, the ONS data for outcomes, year ending 
March 2017 show that, for Durham, 26% of recorded crime was resolved against an 
average for England and Wales of 18%.1

9. There are also two specific crime types on which we track the solved rate – Residential 
Burglary and Theft from Motor Vehicle (because the victim of these crimes usually 

1 ‘Crime Outcomes in England and Wales: Year Ending March 2017: Police Force Area Tables Second Edition’, 
ONS, 20th July 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/crime-outcomes-in-england-and-wales-2016-
to-2017#history (accessed: 19th June 2018).

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/crime-outcomes-in-england-and-wales-2016-to-2017#history
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/crime-outcomes-in-england-and-wales-2016-to-2017#history


3

does not know who the perpetrator is and therefore they are a good barometer for 
how good the Force is at investigating crime). For these two crime types, year-to-date 
Durham has solved 13% of Residential Burglaries and 24% of Thefts from Motor 
Vehicle.

Crime Data Integrity

10. One of the major reasons for recorded crime having risen is changes to the National 
Crime Recording Standards (NCRS). Several types of incident, which previously would 
not have been recorded as crimes, now need to be. This has caused the crime figures 
to increase. Examples include harassment, which is now recorded as a crime at the 
first time of reporting, and certain low-level public order offences, which might 
previously have been recorded as anti-social behaviour.

11. Harassment is classed as a victim-based crime, and also “violence without injury”, and 
therefore the change in how harassment is recorded also manifests as an increase in 
the figures relating to violent crime.

12. In November 2015, HMICFRS announced that it would inspect forces’ crime-recording 
practices in a rolling programme covering every force in England and Wales. These 
inspections would report on the progress made by forces since crime data integrity 
inspections which were carried out in 2014. The report into Durham Constabulary’s 
Crime Data Integrity was published on 15th February 2018 and presented to the Panel 
at the previous meeting on 8th March 2018.

13. Overall, the report showed that the Constabulary is “Good” at recording crime 
properly and accurately. Durham is one of only a handful of forces to be rated “Good”. 
None has been rated as “Outstanding”.

14. The report showed that 91.5% of crimes have been recorded accurately by Durham. 
However, this means that at least 4,700 crimes have not been recorded. The 8.5% of 
reported crimes, that went unrecorded, include public order crime and online crime 
where young people share indecent images of themselves.

15. The report was particularly complimentary of the leadership shown in ensuring that 
crime is recorded properly, grading this as “outstanding”.

16. The report contained three recommendations. The PCVC is satisfied that the 
Constabulary is responding to the issues identified. The PCVC and his Office continue 
to hold the Constabulary to account robustly through face-to-face meetings with both 
the Executive and the Force Crime Registrar, and is he satisfied as to the work that the 
Constabulary is carrying out to ensure continued improved compliance. This remains 
an area which the PCVC will continue to scrutinise.

17. Where forces have been poor at recording crime, their increases in recorded crime 
will have been smaller. The increase in recorded crime in Durham can be seen as a 
measure of success rather than failure.

Page 67



4

Confidence

18. The graph below shows the change over time in confidence in Durham Constabulary. 
This data is taken from the Crime Survey of England and Wales, which is a rolling 
survey, carried out nationally, in which people are asked questions about their 
perceptions of crime and anti-social behaviour in the area.

19. The graph below shows the proportion of people who “Agree” or “Strongly Agree” 
that “Taking everything into account (they) have confidence in the police force” (y-
axis), and the change over time since 2007 (x-axis). Key:

 The solid black line is Durham Constabulary
 The dashed red line is Northumbria Police, and the dashed black line is 

Cleveland Police
 The dotted green line is the highest in the country, and the dotted red line is 

the lowest in the country
 The solid blue line does not relate to the y-axis. It shows Durham 

Constabulary’s national rank on this measure i.e. in December 2008 we were 
35th in the country, and in June 2017 we were 3rd. 

Graph showing proportion of people agreeing and strongly agreeing they have confidence in 
Durham Constabulary; and Durham’s national rank, over time

Source: Crime Survey of England and Wales and DCOP (Durham Constabulary Management 
Information System

20. This shows that over time there has been a substantial increase in confidence in 
Durham Constabulary, from around 65% ten years ago to nearly 85% today. 

Page 68



5

Furthermore, during that time the force’s national rank has moved from the third or 
fourth quartile to the top quartile.

21. This increased confidence is likely to have contributed to the rise in recorded crime, 
because people are more likely to report.

Increases in crime types

22. There are certain types of crime where there may have been genuine increases. My 
latest public performance report shows increases in these areas. These include:

 Acquisitive crimes such as shoplifting (12%) and burglary (6%)
 Vehicle offences (27%)
 Criminal Damage and Arson (20%).

23. However, these increases may also be attributable to increased confidence and, in 
some cases, changes to recording rules.

Recommendation

24. That the Panel 
 note the contents of the report and seek any relevant points of clarification
 offer support to disseminating messages about the increase in recorded crime, 

so as to help to allay fears that real crime has increased on the scale suggested 
by the recorded crime statistics.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 69



6

Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
None
Staffing
None
Equality and Diversity
None
Accommodation
None
Crime and Disorder
None
Children's Act 2004
None
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
None
Environment
None
Collaboration and Partnerships
None
Value for Money and Productivity
None
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Recording crime accurately ensures that support can be made available for victims and 
crimes can be investigated.
Commissioning
None
Other risks
None

Contact Officer: Alan Reiss
Job Title: Chief of Staff
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: alan.reiss@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 70

mailto:alan.reiss@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


7

Appendix Two

[Insert letter of 13th February]

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner for Durham 
Police Headquarters 

Aykley Heads 
Durham  
DH1 5TT 

      Telephone 
Number: 0191 3752001 

            Email: 
general.enquiries@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Website: http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk 
     

Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner:                                Ron Hogg             
Chief of Staff:                                               Alan Reiss             
 

 12 February 2018 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
I am writing to provide you with some background to the rise in police recorded crime figures which we are 
seeing at the moment. 
 
I published my latest Performance Report in December, and you will find it on the home page of my 
website, at www.durham-pcc.gov.uk . It shows a rise of 35% in ‘all recorded crime’ in the twelve months to 
September 2017, an increase of over 10,000 compared to the previous year.  
 
I know that the public will be concerned and it is important to give these numbers context. 
 
Currently, the independent Crime Survey for England and Wales1 shows that Durham enjoys the sixth-
highest level of confidence of all the Police Forces in England and Wales, a much better position than 2/3 
years ago. We need to maintain that confidence because that is what leads people to report crimes, and 
therefore enables those crimes to be addressed and resolved. It also puts us in a position where we are 
able to provide victims with the support they need. The same survey also shows that generally the ‘risk’ of 
becoming a victim in Durham does not appear to have changed. 
 
The Constabulary have been looking at the reasons for the increase and I believe there are three which are 
key. 
 
1. Changes in recording guidelines and improved compliance with the National Crime Recording 

Standards and the Home Office Counting Rules. In 2016 the Home Office, advised by HM Inspectorate 
of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS), made significant changes to these rules. One 
is the much stronger victim focus, in that forces must take a victim’s word that they have been a victim 
of crime unless there is evidence to say this isn’t the case. A second is in the timing of when a crime 

                                                           
1 The Crime Survey is used by the Government to monitor the extent of crime in England and Wales. It provides 
information about the changing levels of crime over the last 30 years. 

 

 

 

Page 73

mailto:general.enquiries@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/


must be recorded. This decision must be made within the first 24 hours of receiving the call; previously 
this was 72 hours.  
 
In line with the Home Office counting rules, the force are now recording cases of harassment which 
would have been previously recorded as anti-social behavior disputes, sometimes between neighbours, 
and low level violent and criminal damage offences which would also have been recorded as anti-social 
behaviour. Whilst these changes have led to an increase in recorded crimes, we have been closing 
monitoring satisfaction levels to ensure we are meeting the needs of the victims.  
 
Durham has also increased the extent to which it complies with National Crime Recording Standards 
and has recently been inspected by HMICFRS. I have been advised that the report will be published in 
the next tranche of reports expected February 2018.  The force’s current compliance rate is now one of 
the highest in the country. Increasing compliance will have made a noticeable difference to the number 
of crimes recorded. More reassuringly we are providing support to victims in almost all cases and the 
force are continuing to take crime recording accuracy very seriously. 
 

2. People are increasingly confident to report crimes and incidents to the Police. We have seen rises in 
recorded cases of hate crime, domestic abuse and sexual violence. Our intelligence has led me and the 
Chief Constable firmly to the view that this is primarily because people are more prepared than they 
used to be to report such events. As above, the independently conducted Crime Survey of England and 
Wales indicates that confidence in Durham Constabulary is the sixth-highest of all 43 police forces. 
 

3. There have been real increases in some types of crime. My latest performance report indicates that, to 
September 2017, arson increased by 66% compared to the previous year, vehicle crime by 18%, 
shoplifting by 13% and burglary by 7%.  

 
In support, I would point to a recent report from The Office for National Statistics which states:  

 
“The ONS analysis attributes these increases to improved crime recording processes and victims having 
greater confidence to report incidents to the police – which is particularly important for those experiencing 
domestic abuse, sexual offences, and harassment. We are not complacent about any crime rises, even if 
analysis suggests changes to recording and reporting are behind these figures.” 
 
All of this should be set against the reduction in police officer numbers, which have fallen by 25%, or 360 
officers, since 2010. There are a number of consequences to this: 
 
- A key part of police work is crime prevention, and such a dramatic reduction in officer numbers means 

that the service is increasingly being forced to operate reactively rather than pro-actively; 
 

- This situation is now further exacerbated by the fact that officers are having to deal with twice as many 
recorded issues in a year, compared to 2013/14; 

 
- Whilst I welcome the fact that victims of sexual offences and hate crime feel more confident to report, 

the complex and sensitive nature of these issues places increased pressure on our reduced officer 
numbers; and 

 
- The increase in traditional crimes such as low-level arson reflects the strain being put on our 

neighbourhood resources, and the increase in crimes of theft can be inherently linked to austerity and 
the punitive sanctions placed on some of the most vulnerable within our communities. 

 
In this context I praise the ongoing efforts of officers and staff and I remain wholly confident in the 
effectiveness and efficiency of Durham Constabulary. Page 74



 
Although these increases are a real concern, I would assure our communities that crimes in our area tend 
to be low-level, and the Cambridge Harm Index shows no increase to the level of harm in our communities. 
 
The future only holds further challenges and increases in crime, especially as cyber-related crime continues 
to rise. Whilst I continue to work with the Chief Constable and partners to address these matters, and to 
reassure the public, I will also continue to press central Government for better and fairer police funding. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
 
 
Ron Hogg 
Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Durham is an accredited Living 
Wage Employer with the Living Wage Foundation 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

Quarter 4 2017/18 Performance Report

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. To advise Police and Crime Panel Members that the quarter 4 Public Performance Report will be 
published by the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner prior to the Panel meeting (29th June) 
and a presentation on the Report given to members at the meeting.

Background

2. The report contains key performance data for the headline measures: Victim Based Crime, Public 
Confidence, and Victim Satisfaction, and performance information on each aspect of the current 
Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan.

3. The interactive document is updated and published publically quarterly. The Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner will be in attendance at the meeting to give a presentation of the report 
and respond to any questions that Panel Members may have.

Recommendations

4. Panel Members are recommended to consider the information contained in the presentation, 
and comment accordingly.

Next Steps

5. This is the last report that the Panel will receive in this format. As part of the new Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Plan, the PCVC will be producing reports against the eight Key Performance 
Questions contained within it. The intention remains that these will be published and presented 
to the Panel for discussion, as has been the case since 2014.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 77

Agenda Item 11



Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
None
Staffing
None
Equality and Diversity
None
Accommodation
None
Crime and Disorder
None
Children's Act 2004
None
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
To be made available to members of the public as part of the engagement strategy
Environment
None
Collaboration and Partnerships
None
Value for Money and Productivity
None
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Provides an update on performance in relation to each area of focus in the Plan.
Commissioning
None
Other risks
None

Contact Officer: Jon Carling
Job Title: Head of Policy and Communications
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 78

mailto:jon.carling@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


My Vision: Inspire confidence in policing by ensuring efficient and effective services are delivered to 

support victims and keep all our communities safe

Approach

es• Communicating and 

engaging with our 

communities

• Understanding 

demand and tackling 

emerging threats

• Collaborating and 

working with 

partners

• Being innovative

• Delivering efficient 

services

• Operating strong 

governance and 

accountability 

arrangements

• Campaigning for 

change

Objectives

Tackle anti-social 

behaviour

Reduce the harm 

caused by alcohol and 

drugs

Tackle 

cybercrime

Safeguard vulnerable 

people

Address the incidence 

and impact of 

domestic abuse and 

sexual violence in all 

its forms 

Reduce re-offending

Improve road 

safety

Reduce the impact of 

hate crime

Ensure that victims are 

supported at all stages 

of the criminal justice 

system

Tackle the issues facing 

our rural communities

Aims and Outcomes

Inspire confidence in the 

police and criminal justice 

system
Support victims and the 

vulnerable

Tackle crime and keep our 

communities safe

High Quality Policing

Quarter 4 Performance Report – January 2018 to March 2018

P
age 79



How we will achieve the aims and objectives

Communication and engagement Playing an active part in the community in order to understand local 

needs, build confidence and gather intelligence

Understanding demand and responding to 

emerging threats

Forward planning to ensure effective use of resources, being prepared 

and subsequently address problems as they arise

Collaboration and partnership Many of the challenges associated with policing require strong 

partnership working across a range of agencies to ensure the best 

service and avoid duplication

Innovation Developing creative solutions to problems is important if issues are to 

be addressed effectively

Efficiency Reductions in funding mean we must deliver the most efficient service 

possible

Strong governance and accountability In delivering a public service, it is important that Durham Constabulary 

is held to account in a robust and transparent way

Campaigning for change There a number of areas where changes to national and local policies 

could benefit local people, for example minimum unit pricing on 

alcohol

P
age 80



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

A range of behaviours are classed as anti-social, including playing loud music, graffiti, street drinking and 

intimidation. 

Over the past 12 months, numbers have remained below those of the previous year and the number of reported 

incidents of continues to fall. However, to some extent this is a result of changes to recording practice where certain 

behaviour is now recorded as a crime when previously it would have been recorded as an incident. I know that there 

are also concerns in specific areas, such as Darlington Town Centre, which are not apparent from the figures – and I 

will continue to monitor the fall in numbers and how this relates to increases in other crime types.

*Community Safety Partnership

The following pages provide a breakdown of anti-social behaviour in each of our local areas.

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018
% change

ASB incidents 22,134 19,591 -11%

- ASB incidents (Durham CSP*) 17,515 15,368 -12%

- ASB incidents (Darlington CSP*) 4619 4223 -9%

P
age 81



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Bishop Auckland
Pop (approx.): 36419 

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1863 1749 -6%

Crook
Pop (approx.): 32496

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

969 821 -15%

0

50

100

150

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

20

40

60

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 82



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Barnard Castle
Pop (approx.): 19890

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

271 219 -19%

Darlington
Pop (approx.): 101110

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

Change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

4619 4223 -9%

0

5

10

15

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

100

200

300

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 83



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Newton Aycliffe
Pop (approx.): 49887

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1784 1576 -12%

Spennymoor
Pop (approx.): 38194

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1630 1214 -26%

0

20

40

60

80

100

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

20

40

60

80

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 84



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Durham
Pop (approx.): 96413

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

2519 2420 -4%

Peterlee
Pop (approx.): 52289

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

2530 2349 -7%

0

20

40

60

80

100

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

50

100

150

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 85



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Seaham
Pop (approx.): 42760

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1499 1294 -14%

Chester-le-Street
Pop (approx.): 53056

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1721 1376 -20%

0

20

40

60

80

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

20

40

60

80

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 86



Objective: Tackle anti-social behaviour

Stanley
Pop (approx.): 38959

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1316 1226 -7%

Consett
Pop (approx.): 48994

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Total Anti-

Social

Behaviour

1413 1124 -20%

0

20

40

60

80

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

0

20

40

60

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Alcohol Related Drugs Related Youth Related

P
age 87



Objective: Address the impact and incidence of domestic abuse and sexual 

violence in all its forms

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Domestic Abuse incidents 15,553 17,179 10%

Research tells us that families live with Domestic Abuse, on average, for two and half years before seeking help. Domestic Abuse is a complex, wide 

reaching and largely hidden issue that affects around 2.1 million people across England and Wales.  Almost two thirds of victims reporting domestic abuse 

over the past two years had experienced 3 or more incidents in a 12 month period.

The numbers above are incidents that have been identified as being linked to Domestic Abuse. Approximately 65% of incidents become crimes, for instance 

assault. Each incident or crime is assessed to establish risk with an average of 6% assessed as high risk, 62% as medium and 32% as standard, for 

2017/18.

Although it is disappointing to see an increase in the numbers, it is important that we continue to encourage victims to come forward and have the 

confidence to report their experience. Equally, working to reduce the number of repeat victims, whether of the same perpetrator or different, is extremely 

important and requires strong partnership working across a range of agencies. We are working with partners to implement a Whole System Approach to 

Domestic Abuse using funding we have successfully bid for from the Police Reform and Transformation Fund.

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Sexual Offences 1333 2034 53%

The number of recorded sexual offences continues to rise. There has been a considerable increase in the number of crimes recorded compared with the 

same period last year. The ongoing work to ensure recording of sexual offences is compliant with National Crime Recording Standards has significantly 

contributed to this increase. A more detailed analysis is planned to identify and address any additional factors contributing to the increase.

P
age 88



Objective: Tackle cybercrime

Cybercrime is not a single offence. Instead it is any crime that involves using a form of digital technology to commit the

offence. This is separated into ‘cyber-enabled’ and ‘cyber-dependent’ crimes. For example, seeing on social media that

someone is on holiday and then burgling their home would be cyber-enabled, but committing online fraud of a bank

account would be cyber-dependent.

Many crimes now have a cyber-dimension however there continues to be a lack of understanding and public

awareness. This means offences are under-reported or are frequently not recorded as having the ‘cyber qualifier’ when

a crime is recorded.

The Constabulary continue to build on the work of the ‘Digital Investigation and Intelligence Unit’ to raise awareness,

offer advice and support to those who are particularly vulnerable to fraud and cybercrime, reduce repeat victimisation,

prevent fraud and cybercrime happening, and prosecute those who commit offences.

The Constabulary does this through:

• awareness-raising sessions with businesses, often in partnership with the North East Regional Special Operations

Unit;

• planning sessions with local schools and youth groups;

• developing capacity to interrogate mobile phones and other devices;

• ensuring that all Officers are trained to identify cyber-enabled crimes, and to respond appropriately.

P
age 89



Objective: Safeguard vulnerable people

A large amount of police time is spent dealing with very complex incidents relating to mental health rather than crime and the number of 

callouts related to this continues to rise. The number of suicides has increased year on year, and I will continue to invest in ‘If U Care 

Share’ to provide support.

An average of 32% of mental health–related calls for Q4 of 2017/18 were supported by the Street Triage Team – mental health nurses 

co-located with the Constabulary. Feedback so far is excellent.

The Constabulary has been tasked with reducing the use of Section 136 of the Mental Health Act. This means reducing the number of 

people who are detained in police custody as a ‘place of safety’ during a mental health crisis. On 11 December 2017, the changes to the 

Mental Health Act came into force meaning that it is now prohibited to detain under 18s in police custody, and over 18s may be detained 

in only exceptional circumstances. Current numbers are as follows:

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

change

Under 18s 1 0 -1

Over 18s 16 2 -14

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% 

change

Mental Health Related Incidents 10,835 17,316 59%

Suicides 45 55 22%

P
age 90



Objective: Reduce re-offending

Reducing reoffending is key to cutting crime. People

who have offended often do so because they are

facing challenges in their lives – and while this

doesn’t excuse their offending, helping to break the

cycle of offending and encouraging people to make

a positive contribution to society remains important.

It is important because reducing reoffending is the

key not only to reducing crime, but also reducing the

number of victims of crime.

This requires a partnership approach and there are

a number of initiatives and projects taking place

across County Durham and Darlington that involve

organisations working together to help reduce

reoffending - including local authorities, probation

services and prisons.

The rate of reoffending has remained stubbornly at

the same level for the last ten years, which is why

we are now looking to new focussed approaches to

tackling it.

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

C
o

h
o

rt
 s

iz
e

R
e

o
ff

e
n

d
in

g
 r

a
te

Proportion of all offenders (adults and juveniles) 

reoffending in a 12 month period (National Binary 

Measure)

Durham cohort size Darlington cohort size County Durham Darlington

P
age 91



Objective: Reduce re-offending

Further information and examples of

some success stories can be found

here:

www.durham.police.uk

Checkpoint Re-offending Rate compared 

with non-Checkpoint rate shows 9.7 

percentage point improvement

One such approach is Integrated Offender 

Management. 

Another is ‘Checkpoint’ which was introduced in April 

2015 and is a multi-agency initiative that takes a 

problem solving approach to exploring why someone 

has offended and what can be done to stop them by 

tackling that root cause. Offenders who are eligible 

and agree to comply are placed on a four month 

contract tailored to suit their individual case, for 

example a drug or alcohol intervention, voluntary work 

and wearing a GPS tag. Should they successfully 

complete the contract then they will not have to 

progress through the criminal justice system, but if 

they fail to complete the contract, including reoffending 

of any kind, they will receive a criminal sanction.

Checkpoint is only available to certain offenders who 

meet strict eligibility criteria and to date has shown 

positive results that have already sparked interest from 

a number of other organisations and it recently won a 

Howard League for Penal Reform award. 

P
age 92



Objective: Reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drugs

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% change

Alcohol related incidents 22,640 26,929 19%

The number of alcohol related incidents has increased, which is a concern given that alcohol can fuel many different crimes types. Work 

is ongoing within the Constabulary to align staffing patterns with changes in drinking patterns (increase in daytime drinking). In addition, 

the majority of newly recruited officers will join frontline neighbourhood teams. Focused interventions in particularly high incident areas 

are also being used to address this increase. Alcohol seizures continue to be carried out by officers across the area but this is an issue 

that requires a great deal of partnership work. I have written to the Home Secretary to call for the introduction of Minimum Unit Pricing.

12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018

% change

Drug offences 1022 1147 12%

On drug offences, recent figures from the Office of National Statistics reveal that the number of drug related deaths in the North East 

has risen by 13% since 2015 to 77.4 deaths per million population compared to 42.9 deaths per million population across England.

If we are to stop people taking drugs, and stop people committing crime in order to fund their habit, I am clear that the current emphasis 

on enforcement and punishment for those caught using them needs to be combined with efforts to reduce the harm they cause. 

Successfully achieving this will require innovation and effective partnerships.

P
age 93



Objective: Reduce the impact of hate crime

Hate crimes and incidents are those perceived, by the victim or any other person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice based on a personal characteristic 

such as race, religion, disability, sexual orientation, gender, gender reassignment, age or any other particular characteristic. They are harmful not only to 

individual victims but can also affect families and entire communities.

Encouraging victims to come forward to report hate crime and incidents is a key priority for me and these figures will be monitored closely over the next 12 

months to help us better understand where resources need to be deployed. They have tended to rise after reports in the national media about terror attacks.

The increase in recorded hate crime offences may be caused by increased confidence to report and more accurate recording by the police, both of which are 

positive factors.

Hate Incidents/Crimes – Durham Constabulary

2017-18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Incidents 145 129 99 141

Crimes 141 131 107 138

Total no. Hate Incidents/Crimes – Durham Constabulary

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Incidents 409 436 375 452 514

Crimes 215 211 266 398 517

Giving victims of hate crime the confidence to report what has happened to them is vitally important, not just to ensure that they get justice and the support 

they deserve, but also to develop a better understanding of where the problems are, their scale and their severity. The Constabulary Community Cohesion 

Officers spend a great deal of time engaging with communities to build confidence and better understand and respond to their concerns.

P
age 94



Objective: Reduce the impact of hate crime

The Constabulary also works closely with the Victim Care and Support Service (VCAS) who now receive referrals for 

all recorded Hate Crimes in order to ensure victims get appropriate support. In addition, clear referral pathways are 

being developed into the recently introduced Hate Crime Advocacy Service to enable victims to engage with the often 

complex criminal justice processes.

However, we are aware that addressing this particularly harmful issue can only be achieved by partners joining forces 

to protect victims and bring offenders to justice and the Joint Hate Crime Action Group is a key element of this 

approach.

4 July 2018 – Hate Crime Conference - Xcel Centre Newton Aycliffe

Register your attendance by emailing general.enquiries@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk

P
age 95



Objective: Improve road safety

The need to ensure that everything, as far as is practical, to make Durham and Darlington the safest possible place to live, work and visit extends to 

reducing casualties on our roads.

During the period January to March 2018, for accidents, there were 30 serious injuries and 1 fatality; for casualties, there were 32 serious injuries 

and 1 fatality. A breakdown of the location of these accidents and casualties can be seen below.

The CDSOU continues to work in partnership to put in place various interventions through the use of education, engineering and enforcement. Activity is 

particularly focused on the main causes of accidents recognised nationally as well as locally - speed, seat belts, mobile phones and alcohol. In an attempt to 

raise awareness and prevent escalation of these, schemes such as driver improvement and speed awareness courses along with young driver programmes 

are undertaken regularly. During this quarter, a total of 150 Community Speed Watch activities were undertaken.

P
age 96



Objective: Ensure victims are supported at all stages of the criminal justice system

Victim 

Satisfaction 

(Satisfied)

2016/17 2017/18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Year end 

average
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Year end 

average 

Year-on-

year

difference

Whole 

Experience
90% 87% 84% 88% 87.25% 85% 83% 79% 82% 82.25% -5

Ease of Contact 97% 97% 98% 97% 97.25% 96 % 94 % 93% 95% 94.50% -2.75

Arrival Time 91% 85% 85% 86% 86.75% 85% 83% 85% 82% 83.75% -3

Actions Taken 87% 84% 84% 83% 84.50% 83% 77% 76% 77% 78.25% -6.25

Follow Up 84% 76% 80% 78% 79.50% 71% 71% 69% 67% 69.50% -10

Treatment 96% 93% 96% 95% 95.00% 95% 92% 90% 91% 92.00% -3

Victim Satisfaction

The Constabulary carries out regular victim satisfaction surveys to understand how satisfied victims are with the service they have 

received. Satisfaction with follow-up and actions taken has dropped considerably and significant work has been undertaken to identify 

reasons for this – and, consequently, work is now taking place to address these.

P
age 97



Objective: Ensure victims are supported at all stages of the criminal justice system

Support for Victims

• The Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS) was jointly commissioned by myself and the Police and Crime

Commissioner in Cleveland to provide advice and support to victims of crime;

• In the fourth quarter of 2017/18, 1,131 victims were offered support from VCAS;

• While there has been an overall increase in recorded crime, this has not resulted in an increase in demand for

VCAS support;

• Action Fraud is the national body that receives reports from victims of fraudulent activities and although referrals to 

VCAS remain constant, the take up rate for support continues to be very low. VCAS consider the most likely cause 

of this to be the length of time between the victim reporting the crime and the date that the information is sent to 

VCAS. It is expected that this will improve when new IT systems are put in place by Action Fraud and VCAS receive 

referrals much earlier;

• The OPCVC has recently undertaken a piece of work considering the victim experience as a whole – with the police 

as well as the wider Criminal Justice System – to identify how it can be improved.

P
age 98



Objective: Tackle the issues facing our rural communities

I am sensitive to the particular issues faced by our rural communities. Indeed, certain crimes are more likely to happen in rural areas 

and the same crime in a rural area may need a different response to that if the crime had occurred in an urban area. For example, a 

victim of burglary in a remote farmhouse may feel more vulnerable.

It is for this reason that Durham has participated in the National Rural Crime Survey 2018, which recently ran from 18 April to 10 June 

2018. The number of responses received for Durham was very good – and the results will be available soon.

As well as offering a useful comparison to the National Rural Crime Survey 2015’s findings, the 2018 results will help inform my updated 

Rural Statement, which will be published in the Autumn.

Immediate response data is shown below. For those crimes that are deemed as requiring an immediate response, dispatch is to take

place within 3 minutes. There are also arrival time targets for the urban and rural areas, based on the distance and road types to travel

(15 minutes for urban and 20 minutes for rural).

Quarter 1 

April-June 2017

Quarter2

July – Sept 2017

Quarter 3 

Oct – Dec 2017

Quarter 4 

Jan – March 2018

Avg

All Immediate Responses 85% 84% 82% 82% 80% 81% 80% 80% 82% 83% 82% 82% 82%

Teesdale [Barnard Castle Sector] 73% 77% 60% 69% 70% 69% 55% 65% 72% 58% 59% 78% 67%

Weardale [Stanhope Section] 56% 60% 79% 100% 67% 86% 71% 65% 57% 72% 82% 65% 72%

P
age 99



Aim: Inspire confidence in the police and criminal justice system

Public Confidence - Crime Survey England and Wales (CSEW)

12 months to end

December 2016

12 months to end 

December 2017
Difference

% of people who think the police do a good job 

(Nationally)
62.5% 62.3% -0.3

% of people who think the police do a good job  

(Durham)
68.7% 68.7% -

‘taking everything into account I have confidence in 

the police’ (Nationally)
78.6% 78.5% -0.1

‘taking everything into account I have confidence in 

the police’ (Durham)
83.3% 83.6% +0.3

Maintaining public confidence is important to ensure people feel safe, able to report offences, share intelligence and

help support investigations. The Crime Survey for England and Wales measures public confidence in their local Police

Force. Results are produced quarterly (although there is always a delay of one quarter in publication of the results). I

am pleased to report that the most recent survey results place Durham Constabulary first in the country for

Community Understanding.

P
age 100



Aim: Tackle Crime and Keep Communities Safe

Crime Type
12 months to end

March 2017

12 months to end

March 2018
% change

All Crime 46,606 61,417 32%

Victim Based 41,444 53,062 28%

Violence Against the Person 14,659 21,422 46%

Burglary 4432 4714 6%

Vehicle Offences 2930 3708 27%

Shoplifting 3956 4424 12%

Criminal Damage and Arson 8503 10,181 20%

• Much of the increase in recorded crime is a direct result of:

o Force compliance with new rules relating to the recording of crime, especially the increase in recorded Violence Against the 

Person – particularly in relation to harassment, which includes crimes formerly recorded as incidents;

o Increased public confidence to report and increases in reporting of historic crime;

o Real increases in certain crimes, e.g. theft and robbery type offences.

P
age 101



Conclusions

• Recorded victim-based crime continues to increase, partly as a result of implementing changes in recording 

practices for violent offences and harassment. However, there is evidence that the numbers of reported crimes 

such vehicle crime, arson, burglary, criminal damage are increasing. These changes have affected crime 

statistics across the country not just in Durham and Darlington.

• In February 2018 HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) rated Durham as 

‘Good’ for crime data recording – the highest rating given to any Force in the country. HMICFRS have also rated 

Durham Constabulary as ‘outstanding’ for effectiveness.

• The experience of victims with the police is a key priority for me. Current victim satisfaction figures remain slightly 

below those achieved in 2016/17 and actions have now been identified and are being actioned to continue to 

address this.

• Persistent anti-social behaviour can seriously affect the quality of a victim’s life.  Equally, some of these incidents 

can develop into crimes.  Despite increases in some types of crime, anti-social behaviour across the whole of the 

force area continues to reduce.

• In this quarter my accountability programme with the police has focussed particularly on cybercrime, hate crime, 

and supporting vulnerable people.

• In the coming quarter, my accountability programme will focus on road safety, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence, and drugs and alcohol.

P
age 102



Glossary

Anti-Social 

Behaviour

A wide range of behaviours, which cause alarm, distress or harassment to at least one person. They are 

separated into 3 categories: Personal (targeted at a specific individual or group), Nuisance (causing annoyance 

to the wider community) and Environmental - (incidents aimed at the physical environment).

The force add flags highlighting alcohol, youth and drug related  incidents. In some cases one incident can have 

more than one flag (e.g. both alcohol and youth related), which means it will be included in the figures on the 

local graphs  twice (once in the alcohol  and a once in the youth). But, this is not the case in the overall figures.

Community 

Safety 

Partnership

Community Safety Partnerships were set up as statutory bodies under Sections 5-7 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998. They are an alliance of organisations which generate strategies and policies, implement actions, and 

interventions concerning crime and disorder within their partnership area.

CSEW The Crime Survey England and Wales is a national survey about experiences of crime from members of the 

public across the Country.  

Crime Statistics All crime statistics in this document are from the Durham Constabulary recorded crime and incident database.  

HMICFRS Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services independently assess the effectiveness

of the Country’s police forces and fire and rescue services.

Local Survey Local survey conducted by Durham Constabulary.  

Victim Based 

Crime

These are crimes against a victim, and are split into 5 categories: violence against the person, sexual offences, 

robbery, theft offences, criminal damage and arson offences

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                  

Durham Police and Crime Panel

29 June 2018

Police and Crime Panel Work Programme 
2018/19

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  

Purpose of the Report
1. To provide information to Members of the Police and Crime Panel (PCP) and 

seek agreement to the Panel’s Work Programme for 2018/19. 

Background
2. The Panel’s rules of procedure state that the PCP will be responsible for 

setting its own work programme taking into account the priorities defined by 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner (PCVC) within the context of the 
Police and Crime Plan and Annual Report. The work programme must also 
include the functions described in the terms of reference for the panel. 

3. The work programme will enable the PCP to plan and focus on how it will 
effectively provide challenge to the PCVC and deliver its responsibilities within 
the context of the terms of reference and rules of procedure namely:

 Review and comment on the Draft Police and Crime Plan and Precept 
 Reviewing the PCVC’s Annual Report 
 Holding confirmation hearings following a proposed appointment by the 

PCVC to the posts of Chief Constable and Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer within 
the Commissioner’s Office. 

4. The Panel can also establish ‘Sub Committees and Task Groups’ to 
undertake specific task based work on issues it deems necessary in line with 
its remit.

Panel Activity 2017/18

5. Throughout 2017/18, the Police and Crime Panel have held 5 meetings to 
which its activity included:

 fulfilling its requirements within the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act to review and comment on the PCVC’s annual report and precept

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



 receiving presentations/reports on Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 – 
2020/21, Local Criminal Justice Board, Checkpoint Programme, Precept 
Setting Consultation, Durham & Darlington Victims and Witnesses Group,  
Community Engagement, Revenue and Capital Budgets 2017/18 & 2018/19 
and Reducing Reoffending

 
 responding to reports on quarterly and year end performance, PCVC 

decisions, Commissioning activity and outcomes of HMIC Inspections;

6. The Panel also held an Induction Training Session with the PCVC in June 
2017 and a Development Session on cybercrime in April 2018. In addition 
Members were also invited to attend a Junior Road Safety event at County 
Hall in June 2017 and Wisedrive Road Safety Carousel at Newton Aycliffe in 
October 2017. 

Panel Work Programme 2018/19

7. The Panel’s Development Session in April also included discussion reflecting 
current activity and any areas for development. Outcomes from this session 
included media items and an item on crime statistics within the work 
programme. Within this context, Appendix 2 outlines a work programme for 
2018/19. It is to note that the work programme is to be flexible to 
accommodate additional items throughout the year. 

8.

Recommendation 
9. That Members of the Police and Crime Panel consider information within this 

report and Appendix 2 and agree a work programme for 2018/19.  
 

Contact: Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation & Partnerships       
Tel:   03000 268060
Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer           
Tel: 03000 268142

Page 106



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – None

Staffing – None 

Risk – None 

Equality and Diversity /  Public Sector Equality Duty – None 

Accommodation – None 

Crime and Disorder – This is a key focus of the work of the panel reflected in its 
work programme. 

Human Rights – None 

Consultation – None

Procurement – None 

Disability Issues – None 

Legal Implications – Information with this report aims to achieve the Panel’s 
responsibilities in line with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.   

Page 107



Appendix 2

Police and Crime Panel – Work Programme 2018/19
Date & Time Suggested Items for Work Programme 

29th June 2018
2.00 pm 
Committee Room 1A, 
County Hall, Durham

 Election of Chair and Vice Chair for 2018-19
 Media Articles
 Review of PCVC Annual Report 2017-18
 Draft Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan 
 Crime Statistics 
 Q4/Year end 2017/18 – Public Performance Report 
 PCP Work Programme 
 PCVC Commissioning Activity 
 PCVC Decisions 
 HMIC Inspection Reports

22nd October 2018 
Committee Room 1B
10:00 am
County Hall, Durham

 Media Articles 
 Focused presentation on PCVC Plan Outcome ‘Communities are 

safe and crime is reduced’ 
 Q1 Public Performance Report
 PCVC review of spending (commissioning) Spend 
 PCVC Decisions 
 HMIC Inspection Reports
 Complaints 

10th January 2019 
Committee Room 1A
2.00pm 
County Hall, Durham

 Media Articles
 Focused presentation on PCVC Plan Outcome ’Victims and the 

vulnerable feel Supported’  
 Precept Setting Consultation 
 Q2 Public Performance Report
 PCVC Commissioning Activity 
 PCVC Decisions 
 HMIC Inspection Reports

1st February 2019 
Committee Room1A 
10:00 am
County Hall, Durham

 Media Articles
 Focussed presentation on PCVC Plan Outcome ‘Reoffending is 

reduced and rehabilitation is improved’  
 Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s Proposed Precept for 

2018/19
 Local Criminal Justice Partnership  ‘One year on’ 
 PCVC Commissioning Activity 2018/19
 PCVC Decisions 
 HMIC Inspection Reports

14th March 2019 
2.00 pm – Darlington 
Town Hall 

 Media Articles 
 Focussed presentation on PCVC Plan Outcome ‘People have 

confidence in the police and the criminal justice system’ 
 Q3 Public Performance Report
 MTFP report 
 Decisions by the PCVC
 PCC Commissioning Activity 
 HMIC inspections

Page 108



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

1

Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

Commissioning in 2018-19

Report of Head of Governance & Commissioning
 

Purpose

1. To update the Panel on funding and commissioning activities for the financial year 2018/19, 
and the publication of the OPCVC Commissioning Strategy.

Background

2. Under Section 143 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, the Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Commissioner can “provide or arrange for the provision of:

a. Services to secure crime and disorder reduction;
b. Services to help victims or witnesses of, or other persons affected by, offences and 

anti-social behaviour;
c. Services specified by the Secretary of State”.

3. In order to do so, he has identified funding from two sources:
 Ring-fenced funding allocated by the Ministry of Justice to support victims of crime;
 Additional funding from the Policing Grant and precept, which includes money which 

used to be allocated directly to Community Safety Partnerships prior to the advent of 
PCCs.

4. As previously reported to the Police and Crime Panel, the OPCVC has a discretionary budget 
of just over £2million, including grants which were previously allocated by Durham 
Constabulary. Previously these budgets have been largely based on where the money has 
come from (e.g. Ministry of Justice Victims’ Services Grant, Community Safety Legacy Grant). 
Much of the money has been allocated based on history (“it’s always been that way”) or 
bidding processes.

5. In 2017, the OPCVC carried out a piece of work in-year to align our spending to the three core 
priorities of: 

a. Victims services (£0.8m);
b. Community safety and prevention (£0.5m); and
c. Reducing reoffending (£0.7m).

Page 109

Agenda Item 13



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

2

6. This exercise provides the foundation for us to commission services based on strategic 
priorities rather than allocating funding largely based on either bidding processes or legacy 
allocations.

7. The OPCVC has produced a new Commissioning Strategy (attached at Appendix Two), which 
sets out our approach to commissioning. It explains how our spending priorities link to our 
overall objectives and Key Performance Questions, and what funding is allocated for 2018-19. 
For 2019/20, the OPCVC will move to the new commissioning model and invite the views of 
partners to the planned commissioning of services from the much larger funding pot than 
previously attributed to the community safety fund. 

8. In order to support this, all activities falling within the three priority areas will be subject to a 
service and funding review by the ODPCVC, which we are aiming to complete by July 2018.

9. A report on this review will be provided to the Police and Crime Panel in October 2018.

Recommendation

10. To consider the report and the Commissioning Strategy and provide any comments and 
questions.

Charles Oakley
Head of Governance & Commissioning

Page 110



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

3

Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
All funding is included within the 2018/19 budget.

Staffing
n/a

Equality and Diversity
n/a

Accommodation
n/a

Crime and Disorder
Many of the projects are aimed at reducing crime and disorder.

Children's Act 2004
n/a

Stakeholder/Community Engagement
Information about the PCVC’s funding streams is set out in the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan.

Environment
n/a

Collaboration and Partnerships
n/a

Value for Money and Productivity
Value for Money is a key consideration in the allocation of all funding.

Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
All funding is expected to have a positive impact on priorities

Commissioning
As per the report.

Other risks
n/a

Contact Officer: Charles Oakley
Job Title: Head of Governance & Commissioning
Telephone: 0191 375 2150
Email: charles.oakley@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 111

mailto:charles.oakley@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Commissioning
Strategy

June 2018

Durham Police Crime & Victims’ Commissioner’s Vision 2021

Introduction
1. This Commissioning Strategy sets out how I will commission services in order to support 

the delivery of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan and its four outcomes:
 Communities are safe and crime is reduced
 Victims and the vulnerable feel supported
 Re-offending is reduced and rehabilitation is improved
 People have confidence in the Police and the Criminal Justice System

2. There are three groups of local services which need to be in place in order to make a 
reality of the PCVC’s vision 2021: the Police service, Local Criminal Justice Services, and 
community-based services to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and keep 
communities safe.

3. Commissioning forms a crucial part of establishing, maintaining and improving these 
local services, and ensuring that they are producing the outcomes that communities 
need. Commissioning involves understanding where gaps exist and what services are 
necessary, working in partnership to ensure they are delivered well, and evaluating their 
effectiveness.

4. The table below sets out how commissioning contributes to the three key service areas:

Service Area PCVC key activities

Policing: An Outstanding Constabulary 
which delivers efficient and effective 

i. Set strategic objectives for the Chief 
Constable; 

County Durham and Darlington are areas where all communities are 
safe, victims and vulnerable people feel supported, crime and re-
offending are low, and people have confidence in policing and the 

criminal justice system.

Page 113



2

Service Area PCVC key activities

policing, inspires confidence, supports 
victims, tackles crime, solves problems 
and keeps communities safe.

ii. Hold him to account for delivery;
iii. Set the budget for Durham 

Constabulary.

Local Criminal Justice System: An end-
to-end local criminal justice system 
which delivers justice and rehabilitation 
efficiently, supports victims at every 
stage, and works in partnership and 
across agency boundaries to reduce 
reoffending.

i. Set strategic objectives and a 
programme for change through a 
local criminal justice plan;

ii. Commission and influence services 
to empower victims and enable 
them to cope and recover; and

iii. Commission and influence services 
to reduce reoffending and support 
rehabilitation.

Community Safety and Prevention: 
Effective and efficient local services, 
delivered in partnership to prevent crime 
and the causes of crime, promote 
community safety, and reduce demand 
in the long term.

i. Commission and grant fund 
community safety programmes;

ii. Work in partnership to secure 
services that support prevention 
and early intervention; and

iii. Influence partnership plans.

5. Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) were elected across England and Wales in 
November 2012 following the introduction of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 replacing Police Authorities.

6. PCCs have significantly wider responsibilities that include commissioning services and 
awarding grants to support delivery of the priorities in accordance with their Police and 
Crime Plan. PCCs are also increasingly taking a larger role in ensuring that the local 
criminal justice system is effective, and that all local partners are contributing to 
reducing crime and keeping communities safe.

7. Each PCC receives funding from the Home Office Police Grant, the local policing precept, 
and the Ministry of Justice. Beyond providing funding for the police service, under the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 the PCVC has a responsibility to 
“provide or arrange for the provision of:

a. Services to help victims or witnesses of, or other persons affected by, offences 
and anti-social behaviour; 

b. Services to secure crime and disorder reduction;
c. Services specified by the Secretary of State”.

The PCVC can therefore allocate funding for activities including community safety and 
prevention, reducing offending and/or reoffending behaviour, and local victims’ 
services. It is for the PCVC to decide how to allocate this money, in consultation with 
local people and partners.

Page 114



3

8. The OPCVC has a discretionary budget of just over £2million, including grants which 
were previously allocated by Durham Constabulary. The PCVC has determined three 
strategic budgets, based on the areas identified in the table above:

 Victims services; 
 Reducing reoffending;
 Community safety and prevention.

9. Prior to 2017-18, many of the PCVC’s contributions to other services were based on 
either bidding processes or legacy allocations (e.g. through the local Community Safety 
Partnerships). The OPCVC undertook an exercise in 2017 to review our spending and 
decision-making processes, identify how our spending aligned with the three priorities 
set out above, and determine how we could move to a more strategic approach to 
spending and commissioning.

10. This work provides the foundation for a new method of commissioning services. To 
enable a smooth transition from the previous bidding approach we are maintaining 
contributions to the existing County Durham and Darlington Community Safety 
Partnership programmes in 2017-18 and 2018-19. In 2018/19, the OPCVC will move to 
the new commissioning model and invite the views of partners to the planned 
commissioning of services (commencing 1st April 2019) from the much larger funding 
pot than previously attributed to the community safety partnerships.

Our Principles
11. The PCVC’s Commissioning Principles are grounded in the self-evident need to spend 

public money wisely, transparently, and in line with the objectives in the Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Plan. 

12. The PCVC will:

 Work collaboratively with other commissioners to meet local need and achieve 
best value, by developing priorities that are jointly owned and solutions that 
facilitate the pooling of skills and expertise and make use of economies of scale; 

 Include stakeholder views in every part of the commissioning cycle to ensure the 
services commissioned will improve confidence and experience and address 
specific needs and outcomes;

 Ensure robust financial arrangements and control mechanisms are in place to 
regularly review and make timely adjustments as needed to contractual 
arrangements;

 Embrace the principle of equal opportunities, striving to encourage equity, 
equality and recognition of diversity in the provision of services that respond to 
the different needs and service requirements of people regardless of gender, race, 
disability, age, religious belief, marital status, ethnic origin, sexual orientation or 
gender identity; 

Page 115



4

 Be open and transparent about processes and decisions;

 Make decisions based on evidence derived from a variety of sources. 

13. In circumstances where we have evidence that service provision is limited or does not 
exist, the PCVC is actively exploring ways in which combining our resources and co-
commissioning with private, public and third sector organisations can enable more 
services to be provided with our existing resources.

14. The voluntary and community sector is providing valuable support to vulnerable people 
in our communities, often taking referrals from public sector agencies or helping those 
who do not want to refer themselves to the same agencies. The PCVC is proactively 
contributing to the sustainable development of local voluntary and community sector 
organisations through targeted business support and grant funding pilots for new 
services.  

What Success Looks Like
15. Successful commissioning involves deciding how to use the total resources available to 

achieve agreed outcomes in the most efficient, effective and sustainable way. We 
intend to measure the success of our commissioning, whether targeting resources 
independently or working jointly with partners, by how well we have improved 
outcomes for our local communities and service users. How we assess success will 
depend on the client group or community receiving a service. We will talk directly with 
each grant recipient or service provider and agree meaningful performance data to 
ensure that the measures reflect the true impact for the beneficiaries.

16. All services that we commission must contribute to the four Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Plan outcomes and have a positive impact on the answers to the Key Performance 
Questions (KPQs) that underpin them. Those KPQs are:

KPQ1 How safe are our communities?
KPQ2 How well are we preventing and reducing crime?
KPQ3 How well are victims supported to cope and recover, and engage in 

criminal justice processes? 
KPQ4 How well are vulnerable people supported?
KPQ5 How well are we reducing re-offending? 
KPQ6 How well are we rehabilitating people who have offended?
KPQ7 How confident are people in the Criminal Justice System? 
KPQ8 How confident are people in the Police? 

17. There are many partners who commission services which contribute to our shared 
objectives, including local authorities and health commissioners. A crucial part of our 
work is understanding what is in place, who commissions what, what guidance and 
constraints exist, and what gaps there are.

Page 116



5

The Commissioning Process
18. The commissioning process will follow a plan, do and review cycle, put outcomes for 

users at the heart of our thinking and seek to achieve the best value for the use of public 
monies.

19. For the planning stage the PCVC is committed:
 To involve individual residents, service users, partners, local communities and 

other stakeholders in the decision-making – including through advice and 
consultation with partnership groups such as the Community Safety Partnerships, 
Victims and Witnesses Group, Reducing Reoffending Group, and Health and 
Justice Partnership;

 To identify the needs of our local population and how these may change over time 
by listening to our communities and partners;

 To take account of all evidence that is available from local, regional and national 
sources;

 To seek and exploit opportunities for collaboration where this would improve 
outcomes or value for money.

20. For the doing stage, the PCVC recognises that:

 Co-ordination across a range of services such as the criminal justice system, 
health, housing, community safety, welfare rights, employment, education and 
access to information and advice are vital to ensuring positive outcomes;

 The successful delivery of a better deal for our local community depends on 
partners working together to effectively identify and meet need;

 By working with service providers, we will be able to react quickly to intelligence 
and create new and innovative approaches to meet needs;

 Effective partnership working will support the achievement of shared objectives 
and reduce waste and duplication; 

 Identifying and agreeing joint commissioning priorities where appropriate will 
also be a key feature of our commissioning activities. 

21. For the review stage is important that we have measures in place:

 To identify the level of success there has been with the activities we are 
undertaking to achieve our goals;

 To ensure quality of service and continuous improvement. 

Page 117



6

The Future
22. This strategy is driven by the needs of County Durham and Darlington as set out in the 

Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan, defined by local, regional and national priorities and 
underpinned by a commitment to partnership working.

23. Going forward the PCVC will work in collaboration with partners and neighbouring PCCs 
across the North East and continue to embed the views and expectations of the public 
and partners into the delivery and development of services. 

24. Robust governance and monitoring arrangements will ensure continual assessment of 
progress against plans and this will include formulating stakeholder feedback 
throughout the year, monitoring performance and measuring the impact of outcomes.

25. The PCVC is taking a confident and ambitious approach to the delivery of this strategy 
and believes it reflects the aspiration to deliver a better deal for residents of County 
Durham and Darlington.

Page 118



7

Appendix 1: Commissioning Delivery Plan

The next table sets out the services we are funding for each of the three strategic priorities:

 Victims Services;
 Reducing Reoffending; and
 Community Safety and Prevention.

It shows
 the area of spend
 what it we are trying to achieve with that spending
 the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan Key Performance Question to which the spend 

relates
 how we allocate the funding
 the level of spending involved.

Much of the PCVC’s commissioning activity should help to achieve the key outcomes around 
increasing community safety, and confidence in policing. Other commissioned activity is more 
focused towards specific KPQs, as indicated in the table below.

Victims Services
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

Victim 
referral, 

assessment 
and support

Provide victims with 
access to a service that 
helps them to cope and 
recover from the impact 

of a crime

3 Assessing need and 
procuring a service in 

partnership with 
Cleveland OPCC

£289,000

Recovery 
from 

domestic 
abuse 
service

Provide adults and 
children with access to a 

service that helps them to 
recover from domestic 

abuse 

3, 4 Contributing to an existing 
contract at Darlington, 

and working with partners 
to consolidate, enhance 

and fund existing services 
and commission 

appropriate services 
where a need has been 

identified

£21,000

Advocacy 
service

Provide a support and 
advocacy service for 

individuals who have been 
a victim of hate crime, 

some of whom may not 
always approach the 
authorities with their 

concerns

3, 4 Assessing need and 
appointing a service 

provider after completing 
a procurement exercise

£30,000

Page 119



8

Victims Services
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

Forced 
marriage, 
honour-
based 

violence 
and female 

genital 
mutilation

Provide a support service 
for individuals who have 
been a victim of forced 

marriage, honour-based 
violence or female genital 
mutilation, who may not 

always approach the 
authorities with their 

concerns

3, 4 Assessing need and 
appointing a service 

provider after completing 
a procurement exercise

£25,000

Courts 
support 
service

Provide a service to help 
victims and witnesses 
impacted by domestic 
violence navigate their 
way through the court 

process

3, 4 Grant funding an 
Independent Domestic 

Violence Advisor (IDVA) to 
work in the Remand 

Court, and the Sexual 
Violence and Domestic 

Violence Court

£30,000

Recovery 
from sexual 

violence 
service

Provide a seamless service 
for children and adults to 
recover from recent and 
historic crimes of sexual 
violence and give them 

the best possible chance 
of moving on in their lives

3 Working with partners to 
consolidate, enhance and 
fund existing services and 
commission appropriate 

services where a need has 
been identified

£174,000

Restorative 
justice 
service

To bring peace of mind or 
closure for a victim who 
wanted to understand 
why them and enable 
them to move on with 

their life

3, 4 The Restorative Hub has 
been established to 

provide trained persons 
(employees and 

volunteers) who can 
provide a restorative 

intervention 

£169,900

Reducing Reoffending
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

Youth 
Offending 

Service 
(YOS) 

Ensure the provision of 
local youth offending 

services within the force 
area; provide a service 
that intervenes in the 
early stages of youth 

offending behaviour to 
divert that young person 

5, 6 Financial contributions to 
and membership of the 
Management Board for 
each YOS in the force 
area; grant funding to 

enable more Out of Court 
Disposals for young 

offenders and directly 

£448,900

Page 120



9

Reducing Reoffending
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

away from more serious 
offending behaviour in the 
future; and to provide for 

the mental health and 
wellbeing of young 

offenders

influence their offending 
behaviours; and 

contribute to the funding 
of a Specialist Children’s 

Nurse

Adult 
offenders 
mentoring 

service

Engage in partnership 
activities to reduce the 

level of adult reoffending

5, 6 Funding of Adult Mentors 
sited in the Integrated 
Offender Management 

Unit, who will work with 
offenders to change their 

behaviours

£48,000

Adult 
offenders 

diversionary 
service

Provide a diversionary 
service that discourages 
offenders from putting 

themselves in the 
circumstances that led to 

them committing an 
offence

5 The Check Point approach 
gives offenders the chance 
to take part in a fixed term 

contract that will see 
charges dropped if they 

comply with the 
conditions set, but see 

them charged and go to 
court if they breach the 

conditions

£152,600

Gaps in 
services

5, 6, 
8

Commissioning services 
where we identify gaps in 

provision to address 
criminogenic needs

Community Safety and Prevention
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

Community 
mediation 

service

To provide a service that 
intervenes to resolve 

neighbour disputes and 
prevent them escalating

3, 4 The Restorative Hub has 
been established to 

provide trained persons 
(employees and 

volunteers) who can 
mediate a community 

dispute

£84,900

Helping 
vulnerable 

older 
people

Help vulnerable older 
people feel safer and less 
isolated and remove the 

isolation by enabling 
contact from volunteers 

1, 4 Contribution to Age UK 
Darlington towards a 
befriending service

£17,000

Page 121



10

Community Safety and Prevention
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

and reducing the risk of 
vulnerability

Supporting 
community 
initiatives

Enable local communities 
to develop innovative and 
sustainable activities that 

help to encourage 
diversionary activities, 

tackle anti-social 
behaviour, and tackle 

harm caused by alcohol, 
drugs, and violence

1 Working in partnership 
with the County Durham 
Community Foundation 

(CDCF), jointly 
contributing to and 

establishing the PCVC 
Community Safety Fund 

(£150,000) to enable local 
community organisations 
to submit bids (annually)

£115,000

Reducing 
anti-social 
behaviour

Reduce the levels of anti-
social behaviour and 
prevent escalation to 

more serious incidents or 
crimes

1 Contribution to Durham 
County Council’s Anti-

Social Behaviour Officers 
Team

£125,300

Community 
peer 

mentors

Provide support for 
vulnerable people who 

present themselves 
regularly to the police and 
emergency services, but 
have unmet needs that 

fall below the thresholds 
for support from 

appropriate services;
safeguard the vulnerable 
in our communities; and 

reduce demand on 
emergency service 

resources that can be 
applied to meet other 

pressing needs

4, 8 Development of the 
Community Peer Mentor 
Network (volunteers) to 
receive referrals and, if 
appropriate, provide a 
Peer Mentor who has 

‘walked in the shoes’ of 
the person referred, to 

help them find a solution 
to their particular 

circumstances

£141,300

Children 
and young 

people 
diversionary 

activities

Ensure that children and 
young people are diverted 

from activities that may 
lead to contact with the 
criminal justice system

2 Contributions to Durham 
Agency Against Crime to 

deliver diversionary 
activities; and working in 

partnership with CDCF 
jointly contributing to a 
Young PCVC Community 

Safety Fund (£20,000)

£34,000

Voluntary 
and 

Help to maintain and 
sustain a viable voluntary 

2, 4 Contribution to Durham 
Community Action

£10,000

Page 122



11

Community Safety and Prevention
Title What we want to achieve 

and why
KPQ How we do it Spend

community 
sector

and community sector in 
the force area

Reducing 
hate crime

Change the attitudes and 
perceptions of individuals 

and communities that 
contribute to thoughts 
and actions leading to 

hate crime in all its forms

2, 4 Grant funding anti-racism 
education across schools 
in the force area which is 
delivered by Show Racism 

the Red Card

£17,800

Page 123



12

Appendix 2: Organisations in receipt of spending
This table sets out the grants and contracts made in 2018-19, and the work required in order 
to inform future decisions about the areas of spend.

Victims Services

Organisation Purpose How 
Funded

For How 
Long

Key Activity in 2018/19

Various (DAAC) 
and Durham 
Community 
Action

Restorative Hub
Mini Police
PCVC Contributions
Community Peer 
Mentors
VCS Infrastructure 
Support

Grant Annually Consolidate, evaluate and 
determine longer term 

funding strategy
The funding for this 

comes from Victims & 
CSP funding

Darlington MBC Domestic Abuse 
Services

Grant Annually DASVEG and co-
commissioning of new 

contract(s)
Durham OPCVC Contribution to MARAC Grant Annually
Harbour IDVA Remand Court and 

SVDV Court
Grant Annually

Review as part of DA-
WSA and agree longer 

term strategy
DAD Hate Crime Advocacy 

for Victims of Crime
Contract 2 Years plus 

extension
Monitor and evaluate

HALO Forced Marriage, 
HBV/FGM

Contract 2 Years plus 
extension

Monitor and evaluate

Durham OPCVC Contribution to SARC Grant Annually
RSACC / ANO Counselling Provision Grant Annually
RSACC ISVA Provision Grant Annually
RSACC / ANO ISVA Young Children Grant Annually

Plan and mobilise new 
SARC and co-commission 
therapeutic services via 
Strategic Health Group

Safe in Tees 
Valley

Victim Needs 
Assessment & Referral 
Service

Contract 2 Years plus 
extension

Monitor, develop service 
and prepare specification 
for procurement exercise 

in 2019/20
Safe in Tees 
Valley

Pilot for Criminal Justice 
Victim Support Role

Grant Annually Setup pilot, evaluate and 
make decision for longer 

term

Community Safety & Prevention

Organisation Purpose How 
Funded

For How 
Long

Key Activity in 2018/19

Age UK 
Darlington

Good Friends Project
Unit 34 Darlington - 
PCVC Contributions

Grant Annually Monitor and evaluate

CDCF PCVC Community Safety 
Fund

Contract 3 Years plus 
extension

CDCF Young PCVC Community 
Safety Fund

Contract 3 Years plus 
extension

Work with new CEO to 
build an approach to 

increase grant funding for 
VCSO 

Page 124



13

Organisation Purpose How 
Funded

For How 
Long

Key Activity in 2018/19

Darlington MBC
Durham County 
Council

Adults and Children’s 
Safeguarding Boards

Grant Annually Review and advise on 
level of contribution 

going forward
Darlington MBC Darlington Partnership 

Contributions
Grant Annually

Durham County 
Council

Junior Road Safety 
Officer Scheme

Grant Annually

Durham Pride 
Grant

Sponsorship for Durham 
Pride

Grant Annually

Show Racism the 
Red Card

Anti-Racism Education 
in Schools

Grant Annually

Monitor and evaluate

Reducing Reoffending

Organisation Purpose How 
Funded

For How 
Long

Key Activity in 2018/19

Darlington MBC - 
YOS

Contribution to YOS Grant Annually

Durham County 
Council - YOS

Contribution to YOS Grant Annually

Durham County 
Council

CDYOS Specialist 
Children’s Nurse
(Ends in 2018/19)

Grant Annually

Durham County 
Council

ASB Officers Grant Annually

Durham OPCVC Check Point Project Grant Annually
Foundation Adult IOM Mentor Grant Annually

All of these activities 
need to be considered in 
the context of reducing 

(re)offending and 
increasing rehabilitation, 
needing CJS partners to 

be involved in that 
process in 2018/19 to 

help us determine what 
co-commissioning we 

may want to do

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

PCVC Decision Records

Report of Chief of Staff 

Purpose

1. To update Panel Members on the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s decision 
register since the last meeting, and forward plan. 

Background

Decision Making Process

2. Key decisions are made at an Executive Board comprising the PCVC, the PCVC’s Chief 
of Staff, the Chief Constable and the Joint Chief Finance Officer.  Other officers of the 
PCVC or the Chief Constable will attend as and when required. On occasion it is 
necessary to take decisions outside of this process for reasons of expediency, but all 
relevant parties are consulted and informed.

3. All key decisions are supported by a report setting out the decision required, all 
relevant factors to be considered, the outcome of any consultation undertaken and 
the risks and implications of the course of action being recommended. 

4. An online record is maintained of all key decisions taken by the OPCVC.  This includes 
a link to any documents which are disclosable under FOI.  This record includes 
decisions taken by the PCC or any person to whom delegated powers have been 
granted.  

5. The PCVC will consider holding public meetings when this will provide a means of 
consultation on decisions (i.e. precept consultation) where there is a clear interest in 
actively seeking views of the community.

6. The PCVC may choose to delegate powers to any deputy appointed, his statutory 
officers or a senior member of police staff.  

7. A record is kept of all decisions made under delegated powers detailing the factors 
taken into consideration, including any consultation carried out.

8. Decisions to be made by the PCVC will relate in the main to his statutory functions and 
financial responsibilities.  A Forward Plan for key decisions to be taken over a 3 month 
period will be published on the PCVC’s website.

Page 127

Agenda Item 14



2

9. Generally Key decisions are likely to include:

 The preparation, drafting and issuing of the Police and Crime Plan
 Issuing the precept
 Adopting a Medium Term Financial Plan
 Commissioning of Services
 Preparation and issue of the Annual Report
 Any decision which is considered to be of significant public interest or impact 

either generally or on a particular locality
 Any decision which will incur revenue expenditure in excess of £100,000
 Any decision which will incur capital expenditure in excess of £100,000
 The approval of or adoption of strategies/policies
 Key procurement decisions
 Significant changes to the police estate
 Allocation of grants

10. Details of the Police Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s Decision Register 2018 can be 
found in Appendix 2.

Recommendation

11. That Panel Members note the contents of the report and ask any questions.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 128



3

Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
All decisions with financial implications are made with value for money as a key 
consideration, and are affordable within budgets.

Staffing
n/a

Equality and Diversity
n/a

Accommodation
n/a

Crime and Disorder
n/a

Children’s Act 2004
n/a

Stakeholder/Community Engagement
Consultation with key stakeholders is carried out as appropriate to each decision.

Environment
n/a

Collaboration and Partnerships
Consultation with key partners is carried out as appropriate to each decision.

Value for Money and Productivity
n/a

Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
Decisions will impact directly or indirectly on the pursuit of Police and Crime Plan priorities.

Commissioning
Several decisions relate to commissioning of services.

Other risks
n/a

Contact Officer: Alan Reiss
Job Title: Chief of Staff
Telephone: 0191 3752001
Email: Alan.reiss@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk

Page 129

mailto:Alan.reiss@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


4

Appendix 2
Key Decisions

(Links to more detailed reports are available on the website)

Decision 
Number

Decision Taker Subject

003/2018 PCVC The PCVC continues to contribute £100,000 to the PCVC 
Community Safety Fund and pays a fund administration fee of 
£15,000 to CDCF.

004/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to grant fund Age UK for the ‘Good Friends’ 
scheme (£15,000) and contribute towards Unit 34, Cornmill 
Centre, Darlington (£2,000).

005/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to fund the Grow Project and the Community 
Peer Mentor scheme.

006/2018 PCVC The PCVC continues to contribute £10,000 to the Young PCVC 
Community Safety Fund and pays a fund administration fee of 
£2,000 to CDCF in return for an additional £10,000.

007/2018 PCVC PCVC has agreed to contribute £17,500 for 2018/19 to Durham 
Agency Against Crime (DAAC). DAAC is a charity, which works in 
partnership with public, voluntary and private sector partners to 
make County Durham and Darlington a safer place to work, live 
and invest. 

008/2018 PCVC The PCVC has agreed to award the Mini Police Project £4,560.

009/2018 PCVC A grant of £10,000 is made in 2018/19 to Durham Community 
Action for the delivery of county wide support to help the OPCVC 
and Constabulary build volunteer capability and capacity in the 
communities of County Durham.

010/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to contribute £20,000 to the County Durham 
Youth Offending Service towards the funding of a nurse.

011/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to contribute £48,000 towards the Integrated 
Offender Management Unit Mentor programme.

012/2018 PCVC To formally agree the payments (totalling £80,990) made by the 
PCVC to the Durham and Darlington Adult and Children 
Safeguarding Boards.

013/2018 PCVC To grant fund £17,849 to Show Racism the Red Card to continue 
the delivery of anti-racism education sessions in schools across the 
County Durham and Darlington area.

014/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to purchase the freehold title of the Peterlee 
Warehouse, which is a PCVC asset.

015/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees to adopt the new terms and conditions in relation 
to indemnity for Legally Qualified Chairs and Panel Members of 
Police Conduct Hearings as a supplement to the original decision 
record agreed in 2015 (Decision 43/2015 refers).

016/2018 PCVC/CC The PCVC and Chief Constable to sign the Section 22a Agreement 
on the Modern Slavery Police Transformation Programme.

017/2018 PCVC The PCVC to sign the licence for the North East Retail Crime Unit 
to occupy a room in Consett Police Station.

Page 130



5

018/2018 PCVC The PCVC agrees the award of a contract for the delivery of an 
advocacy service to the consortium led by Darlington Association 
on Disability supporting victims of Hate Crime.

Upcoming key decisions

 Refresh of Police and Crime Plan (June 2018)

 Commissioning and grant funding for 2019-20 (September to December 2018)

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Police and Crime Panel

29th June 2018

State of Policing: The Annual Assessment of Policing in England
and Wales 2017 – HMICFRS

Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner

Purpose

1. To inform Police and Crime Panel members of the central points of the ‘State of Policing: The 
Annual Assessment of Policing in England and Wales 2017’ published on the 12th June 2018.

Background

2. The ‘State of Policing’ is an annual, national, report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 
Constabulary, Sir Thomas Winsor. It is an assessment of the efficiency and effectiveness of 
policing across England and Wales for 2017.

3. The full report can be accessed online, on the HMICFRS website: 
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-policing-the-annual-
assessment-of-policing-in-england-and-wales-2017/.

Report Overview

4. Central recommendations of the report are that forces must: 
 get ahead of demand; 
 collaborate with each other and other bodies to prevent crime and deal with its causes; 
 exploit advances in technology; and 
 give emphasis and allocate resources to early intervention.

5. Among other things, the report also highlights that:

1. The welfare of officers and staff is crucial – and that constabularies must have systems to 
assess staff welfare – and give support;

2. Forces need to make better long-term plans – the best constabularies plan several years 
ahead, and make plans on how they will operate in the future;

3. Police forces need a better understanding of the demand they face – and that the best 
constabularies carry out analysis to find where crime is most likely to be under-reported or 
demand likely to be hidden;

4. There should be an open and public debate about demand – that is, the public should 
understand the reasons behind the choices forces make about responding to demand;

5. Some forces are not meeting enough of their current demand – that forces must not use 
telephone investigations as a cheap way of dealing with a case, and that when telephone 
investigations are undertaken, they must be properly allocated and supervised;

Page 133

Agenda Item 15

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-policing-the-annual-assessment-of-policing-in-england-and-wales-2017/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-policing-the-annual-assessment-of-policing-in-england-and-wales-2017/


2

6. Some demand can increase gradually – indeed, cybercrime and fraud are both areas 
HMICFRS intends to look at more closely in the future;

7. The police need a better understanding of their role in the CJS – officers must understand 
exactly how the way investigations are conducted have bearing on what happens in court; 
and the examination of digital devices, and supervision of case quality, are two areas in this 
regard highlighted as needing considerable improvement;

8. The rise of serious violence means the police must use their powers fairly and 
proportionately;

9. We need a concerted effort to prevent crime – and public bodies need to work together 
from early stages;

10. The police need to harness the power of technology – particularly artificial intelligence and 
machine learning:

 ‘Police in Durham are working on a predictive AI system to help officers to decide 
whether a suspect should be kept in custody’.

Recommendations

6. Panel Members are recommended to consider the information contained in this overview, and 
comment accordingly.

Alan Reiss
Chief of Staff

Page 134



3

Appendix 1:  Risks and Implications

Finance
N/A
Staffing
N/A
Equality and Diversity
N/A
Accommodation
N/A
Crime and Disorder
N/A
Children's Act 2004
N/A
Stakeholder/Community Engagement
To be made available to members of the public as part of the engagement strategy.
Environment
N/A
Collaboration and Partnerships
N/A
Value for Money and Productivity
N/A
Potential Impact on Police and Crime Plan Priorities
N/A
Commissioning
N/A
Other risks
N/A

Contact Officer: Jacob Cain
Job Title: Policy and Accountability Officer
Telephone: 0191 375 2164
Email: jacob.cain@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

Page 135

mailto:jacob.cain@durham.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2018
	7 Press, Broadcast Media and Social Media - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	8 Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner's Annual Report - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner
	Annual Report 2017-18_ (002)

	9 Refreshed Police, Crime and Victims' Plan - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	PCVC Plan

	10 Crime Statistics - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	Letter to councillors re rise in crime

	11 Quarter 4 2017/18 Performance Report - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	Microsoft PowerPoint - Q4 Performance Report

	12 Police and Crime Panel Work Programme 2018/19 - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	13 Commissioning in 2018-19 - Report of Head of Governance and Commissioning, Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	Commissioning Strategy FINAL

	14 PCVC Decision Records - Report of the Chief of Staff, Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner
	15 State of Policing: The Annual Assessment of Policing in England and Wales 2017 - HMICFRS - Report of the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims' Commissioner

